# A COMPARISON OF HOSPITALIZATION OUTCOMES BETWEEN PERITONEAL DIALYSIS AND HOME HEMODIALYSIS PATIENTS IN CANADA

by

Meghan Day

# Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia November 2022

©Copyright by Meghan Day, 2022

This thesis is dedicated to anyone living with chronic kidney disease. May research continue to make positive change.

List Of Tables	vi
Abstract	vii
List Of Abbreviations Used	viii
Acknowledgements	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Background	3
2.1 The Burden Of Chronic Kidney Disease	3
2.2 Dialysis	5
2.2.1 Hemodialysis	7
2.2.2 Peritoneal Dialysis	8
2.2.3 Choosing A Dialysis Modality	
2.3 Dialysis Modality And Patient Outcomes	11
2.3.1 The Burden Of Hospitalization In Patients Using Dialysis	12
2.4 Mechanism Linking Home Dialysis To Hospitalizations	16
2.4.1 Cardiovascular Events	
2.4.2 Infection	
2.4.3 Access Complications	19
2.5 Predictors Of Hospitalization In Patients Using Dialysis	19
2.5.1 Age	
2.5.2 Sex	
2.5.3 Race	
2.5.4 Comorbidity	
2.5.5 Socioeconomic Status	
2.5.6 Late Nephrology Referral	
2.6 Rationale And Knowledge Gap	
Chapter 3: Methods	
3.1 Objectives	
3.1.1 Objective One	
3.1.2 Objective Two	
3.2 Design And Population	
3.3 Exclusion Criteria (Primary Analyses)	
3.4 Ethics	

# **Table Of Contents**

3.5 Exposure Variable	28
3.6 Outcome Variables	29
3.7 Covariable Assessment	29
3.8 Power Calculation	30
3.9 Statistical Analysis	30
3.9.1 Objective One	30
3.9.2 Objective Two	
3.9.3 Sensitivity Analyses	
3.10 Tables	34
Chapter 4: Results	38
4.1 Baseline Characteristics	
4.2 Objective One	39
4.2.1 Hospitalization Rate And Days In Hospital	39
4.2.2 Time To First Hospitalization	39
4.2.3 Interaction With Sex	39
4.2.4 Interaction With Race	40
4.3 Objective Two	41
4.4 Sensitivity Analyses	42
4.4.1 Alternate Exposure Definitions	42
4.4.2 Dialysis Access	42
4.4.3 Addition Of eGFR To Adjusted Models	43
4.4 Result Tables	44
Chapter 5: Discussion	52
5.1 Overview Of Primary Results	52
5.2 The Effect Of Sex On The Association Of Home Dialysis And Hospitalization	54
5.3 The Effect Of Race On The Association Of Home Dialysis And Hospitalization	55
5.4 The Effect Of Era On The Association Of Home Dialysis And Hospitalization	58
5.5 Sensitivity Analyses	60
5.5.1 The Effect Of Hhd Access On Home Dialysis And Hospitalization	60
5.5.2 Different Exposure Definition Assessment	61

5.6 Limitations And Strengths	61
5.7 Study Implications	63
5.8 Conclusion	63
5.9 Knowledge Translation	63
References	65
Appendix 1: Simplified Dag Of Covariables And The Relationship With The Exposure And Outcome Variables	80
Appendix 2: Flowchart Of Exclusion Criteria For The Primary Analyses	81
Appendix 3: CORR Initial Registration Form For Chronic Renal Failure Patients On Renal Replacement Therapy	82

# List of Tables

Table 1. Exposure variable and how it was defined and coded 3	34
Table 2. Outcome variables for objectives and how they were defined and coded	34
Table 3. Covariables included in the primary analyses and how they were coded	35
<b>Table 4.</b> Baseline characteristics of the study population stratified by home modality 4	44
<b>Table 5.</b> Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization      comparing PD to HHD in the entire cohort and across eras	46
<b>Table 6.</b> Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization      comparing PD to HHD stratified by sex	47
<b>Table 7.</b> Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization      comparing PD to HHD stratified by race	48
<b>Table 8.</b> Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization      comparing PD to HHD using 180-day exposure definition	49
<b>Table 9.</b> Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization      comparing PD to HHD using 365-day exposure definition	50
<b>Table 10.</b> Rate of admission, days in hospital between those initiated HHD with a graft or fistula compared to those who initiated HHD with a CV line	51

# Abstract

**Background:** Patients using dialysis experience poor health outcomes including high rates of morbidity, mortality, high symptom burden, and frequent and prolonged hospitalizations. In Canada, patients using dialysis are hospitalized 10 times more frequently than the general population. Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is the most common home dialysis option; however, in recent years, home hemodialysis (HHD) has been increasing in use. This is due in part, to some evidence that HHD is associated with better clinical outcomes such as reduced hospitalizations and mortality. However, comparative studies between PD and HHD are limited, and hospitalization outcomes have not been extensively studied.

**Objectives:** The primary objective was to compare all-cause hospitalization rates, days in hospital, and time to first hospitalization between patients using incident PD or HHD and secondarily to assess if the risk of hospitalization was modified by sex, race, and era of dialysis initiation.

**Methods:** We conducted a retrospective national cohort study of all adult patients with kidney failure (KF) who initiated home dialysis within 90 days of kidney replacement therapy in Canada between January 1, 2005, to December 31, 2018 (administrative censoring July 1, 2020) using data from the Canadian Organ Replacement Register (CORR) and the Discharge Abstract Database (DAD). Adjusted negative binomial regression modelling was used to compare hospitalization rates and days in hospital between HHD and PD. Time to first hospitalization was modelled using a Fine-Gray subdistribution hazard model. Analyses were stratified across three pre-determined eras (era 1: 2005-2009, era 2: 2010-2014, era 3: 2015-2018) to assess if hospitalization outcomes changed over time.

**Results:** Our study included 12,708 PD and 715 HHD patients. Those using HHD had a lower hospitalization rate than PD (1.85 per 1000 patient-days vs. 2.44 per 1000 patient-days), incident rate ratio (IRR)= 0.77, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.70-0.84). Patients on HHD in the second and third eras had 0.66 (95% CI 0.57-0.76) and 0.80 (95% CI 0.67-0.95) lower times risk of admission than PD, respectively. Only the second era for days in hospital was significant with patients on HHD having a 0.58 times lower risk (95% CI 0.37-0.92) of admission compared to PD. Males using HHD had the lowest hospital admission rate (1.72 per 1000 patient-days vs. 2.44 per 1000 patient-days for PD, IRR= 0.72, 95% CI 0.64-0.81) and days in hospital (12.89 days per 1000 patient-days vs. 25.68 days per 1000 patient-days for PD, IRR= 0.67, 95% CI 0.44-1.00). Racial minorities experienced significantly fewer days in hospital compared to the racial majority group (interaction p <0.001).

**Conclusion:** In this Canadian national cohort study of incident home dialysis patients, those using HHD experienced significantly less hospitalization events than patients using PD. These findings were most pronounced in males and racial minorities.

# List of Abbreviations Used

CKD	Chronic kidney disease
KF	Kidney failure
KRT	Kidney replacement therapy
SES	Socioeconomic status
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
QOL	Quality of life
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
CORR	Canadian organ replacement register
HD	Hemodialysis
PD	Peritoneal dialysis
HHD	Home hemodialysis
CAPD	Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD)
APD	Automated peritoneal dialysis
PPY	Per patient-year
HR	Hazard ratio
RR	Rate ratio
LVH	Left ventricular hypertrophy

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisors Dr. Leah Cahill and Dr. Karthik Tennankore for your ongoing support, kindness, humour, and encouragement throughout this process. You believed in me in moments where I did not believe in myself.

Thank you to my committee members Dr. Annie-Claire Nadeau-Fredette and Dr. Cindy Feng for sharing your knowledge and dedicating your time to bring this project to its full potential.

To Dr. George Worthen, thank you for all your help with data management and sharing your expertise with the dataset.

To Rachel Warren, thank you for your ongoing Stata help and being a great listening ear. Thank you to the rest of the Nourish team: Michelle George, Allie Carew, and Sam Lavallee for your support throughout this process.

To my partner, Francisco: Thank you for your endless love and support, and always reminding me to take a break. To my parents: Thank you for everything. I wouldn't be where I am today without you. Thank you to the rest of my family and friends for all of the love and encouragement throughout my academic journey.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Patients receiving dialysis experience poor health outcomes including high rates of morbidity, mortality, high symptom burden, and frequent and prolonged hospitalizations.<sup>1–4</sup> In Canada, patients treated with dialysis are hospitalized 10 times more frequently than the general population.<sup>5</sup> Home dialysis use, particularly home hemodialysis (HHD), has been on the rise.<sup>6</sup> This is thought to be due to patient preference, greater treatment flexibility and some evidence suggesting improved clinical outcomes and reduced healthcare costs with home dialysis use compared to in-center hemodialysis (HD). In Canada, a "home first" approach is often used,<sup>7</sup> which involves preferentially educating patients on the benefits of home dialysis. However, while home dialysis is beneficial, only a few studies have focused on evaluating and comparing outcomes for patients receiving different home dialysis modalities.

This thesis aimed to investigate the differences in all-cause hospitalization outcomes between incident HHD and peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients across Canada. Most of the comparative outcome studies that exist have focused on mortality as the outcome. Observational research has found that patients receiving HHD have improved survival compared to PD and in-centre HD.<sup>8–10</sup> Studies have also found that HHD is associated with fewer hospitalizations than in-center HD, however, few have compared HHD to PD.<sup>11</sup> There exists a knowledge gap in research investigating differences in hospitalization outcomes between home modalities (PD and HHD) that this thesis aimed to fill. Additionally, recognizing that HHD use has increased substantially in recent years, we also sought to investigate if hospitalization outcomes vary across eras. The rationale for this is that historically, HHD was reserved for the "healthiest patients". However, in recent years with the increasing prevalence of kidney failure (KF), and the prioritization of home dialysis, there has been an increase in older and "sicker" patients being placed on both PD and HHD.

This present thesis is divided into five chapters. The first is an introduction into the topic and aim of the thesis. Chapter two provides a review of the available literature on this topic including an overview of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and KF, types of dialysis,

patient outcomes while using dialysis such as mortality, and hospitalization, as well as the proposed mechanisms underpinning the relationship between home dialysis and hospitalization and a review of the predictors of being hospitalized while using dialysis. Additionally, this chapter summarizes the rationale for this research and the current knowledge gap this thesis aimed to address.

Chapter three contains the study objectives and the statistical methods used in this national retrospective cohort study. This section contains information on the exposure variables, outcome variables, and the selected covariables, originating from the Canadian Organ Replacement Register (CORR) database and, for data on hospitalization, the Discharge Abstract Database (DAD).

Chapter four details the results of the primary analyses as well as the sensitivity analyses. Chapter five concludes this thesis by putting the results into context with the existing literature. This section also provides the strengths and limitations of this study, the implications, and the knowledge translation plan.

### **Chapter 2: Background**

# 2.1 The Burden of Chronic Kidney Disease

Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) is defined as decreased kidney function persisting for greater than three months.<sup>1,12–15</sup> It is an increasing global public health problem, and it is estimated that as of 2017 approximately 10% of the world population are living with the disease.<sup>12,16,17</sup> CKD caused 1.2 million deaths globally in 2017.<sup>16</sup> In 2019, CKD was ranked as one of the six leading causes of global disease burden in adults.<sup>18</sup> CKD can range from mild to severe and generally result in gradual loss of kidney function over time, and eventually leads to kidney failure (KF). When someone reaches KF the loss of kidney function is considered irreversible and treatment will be required to survive.<sup>19</sup> In 2019, there were 40,734 Canadians (excluding Quebec) with KF,<sup>20</sup> which is a 33% increase from 2010. It is projected that by 2030, 14.5 million people globally will have KF and require treatment.<sup>21</sup> Treatment for someone with KF is known as kidney replacement therapy (KRT). The gold standard for KRT is a kidney transplant;<sup>22</sup> however, dialysis is commonly used prior to transplant or if a transplant is contraindicated.

KF has multiple causes and regularly co-exists with other medical conditions. As a result, people with KF often have multiple comorbidities. KF is a complex illness, in that many of the comorbidities that cause KF can also be developed due to complications of living with KF, such as diabetes mellitus (DM) and hypertension. The leading cause of KF is DM.<sup>23–25</sup> DM is so prevalent with CKD that it is sometimes referred to as diabetic kidney disease.<sup>26</sup> There are multiple factors related to DM that can cause kidney damage including poor glycemic control, hypertension, obesity, and structural changes to the kidney.<sup>26</sup> In the United States (US), approximately one in three adults with DM have CKD.<sup>27</sup> The incidence of DM related KF is rising faster than the overall incidence of KF.<sup>19</sup> Approximately 38% of patients who start KRT in Canada have DM as their cause of KF.<sup>28</sup> Other leading causes of KF include chronic kidney disease, and congenital/hereditary renal diseases.<sup>29</sup>

Hypertension is both a significant risk factor and co-morbidity of KF, as well as a major contributor of the progression from CKD to KF.<sup>19,25</sup> Hypertension is variably defined, but many guidelines use a threshold of blood pressure greater than 130/80 mmHg (especially those who have concurrent DM).<sup>30</sup> The prevalence of hypertension was estimated as 95.7% in a cohort study of adult patients living with CKD in the US from 2003 to 2007.<sup>31</sup> Hypertension causes constriction of the blood vessels, including the blood vessels of the kidneys, which impairs kidney function and limits the ability for the kidneys to properly remove waste and excess fluid.<sup>32</sup> Having CKD is also a risk factor for developing hypertension as it affects hormone regulation and salt retention.<sup>33</sup>

Modifiable lifestyle factors that contribute to the development of KF include smoking,<sup>13</sup> alcohol intake, diet (particularly a high sodium diet), and physical activity level.<sup>19,34</sup> Nonmodifiable risk factors include being of older age, having a family history of CKD, and being of Indigenous, Asian, South Asian, Pacific Island, African/Caribbean and/or Hispanic descent.<sup>13</sup> Low socioeconomic status (SES),<sup>12</sup> and obesity<sup>35,36</sup> are other important risk factors. Sex is also a risk factor for KF, <sup>16</sup> with a higher prevalence in females,<sup>37</sup> but greater utilization of KRT in males.<sup>37–39</sup>

KF is an independent risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease (CVD), which is a major contributor of morbidity and mortality in patients with KF.<sup>40</sup> Evidence supports that as kidney function declines, the risk for CVD increases.<sup>40,41</sup> Many of the risk factors for CKD, such as the lifestyle factors discussed, DM, hypertension, and obesity are also risk factors of CVD,<sup>42</sup> and therefore patients commonly experience both CKD and CVD concurrently. In 2017, 7.6% of cardiovascular deaths were a result of having CKD.<sup>16</sup> Patients with KF are also at risk for other diseases that impact vascular or cardiac health. These include, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, and peripheral vascular disease, <sup>1,13,19</sup> especially in older adults.<sup>1</sup>

Along with the comorbidities discussed, patients with KF experience many other complications including anemia, cognitive dysfunction, and chronic kidney diseasemineral and bone disorders from changes to mineral metabolism (such as high phosphate and low calcium), as well as hyperkalemia, which can cause cardiac arrythmia and death.<sup>1</sup> Patients with KF are also immunocompromised from uremia, glucose impairment from diabetes, and malnutrition.<sup>43</sup> Patients with KF experience severe symptom burden, reduced quality of life (QOL) and depression.<sup>2</sup> A study comparing patients with KF to patients with cancer found that those with KF had an average of 17 symptoms compared to 15 symptoms in patients with cancer, and experience similar QOL and symptom burden to those with terminal cancer.<sup>44</sup> Although dialysis can reduce some of symptoms associated with KF, it is still associated with poor health outcomes. Patients using dialysis face high rates of both morbidity and mortality.<sup>3,4</sup> In Canada, only 44.4% of patients using dialysis survive longer than five years.<sup>28</sup>

In addition to its impact on the health of patients, KF is also immensely burdensome on the healthcare system. KRT is extremely resource intensive and expensive with many developed countries devoting 2-3% of their healthcare budgets to treating patients with KF.<sup>12</sup> In Canada, on average, the cost of total care for a patient using dialysis is between \$56,000 to \$107,000 annually, with the average annual healthcare expenditure of \$1.9 billion, which is approximately 1.1% of total healthcare expenditures.<sup>5</sup>

# **2.2 Dialysis**

The primary function of the kidneys is to filter waste such as urea and creatinine, and excess minerals such as sodium and potassium from the blood and excrete it through the urine.<sup>45</sup> They also maintain fluid balance, calcium and phosphate levels, assist in red blood cell production and blood pressure regulation.<sup>19,46</sup> Impaired kidney function causes uremia, which is the build-up of toxins in the blood. Uremia is associated with numerous symptoms including fatigue, neuropathy, cognitive dysfunction, nausea, malnutrition, alterations to taste and smell, insulin resistance, pruritus, serositis, and anemia.<sup>47</sup> Other symptoms of kidney failure include acid-base electrolyte abnormalities, and poor fluid control, resulting in fluid retention and/or high blood pressure.<sup>1</sup>

Dialysis is a life-prolonging treatment that mimics the role of the kidneys by cleaning the blood of toxins and assisting with fluid balance.<sup>46</sup> The number of Canadians requiring

dialysis has increased dramatically in recent years to 23,125 people in 2019, which does not include those who have KF but have not yet initiated KRT or those who have had a kidney transplant.<sup>6</sup> At end of 2019, there were 1,789 kidney transplants performed and 3,299 people on the waitlist for a kidney transplant in Canada. Once dialysis is initiated it generally continues until death or kidney transplant. Dialysis is initiated with the clinical onset of symptoms and/or when the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), which measures kidney function reduces to less than 5-10 ml/min/1.73 m2.<sup>1,48</sup> Canadian guidelines recommend an "intent-to-defer" approach, where patients with a GFR of less than 15 ml/min/1.73 m2 are to be closely monitored and dialysis is to be initiated when clinical symptoms present or eGFR reaches 6 ml/min/1.73 m2, whichever comes first.<sup>48</sup> Evidence supports that early initiation of dialysis does not improve survival, QOL, or hospital admission rates and given the intensity of chronic dialysis treatment; it is recommended that it should not be initiated until clinically indicated to avoid undue burden to the patient.<sup>48</sup>

Kidney function is monitored using eGFR, which is a measure of the estimate of the rate at which the glomeruli in the kidneys are filtering waste products from the blood. The eGFR is calculated by considering creatinine levels or serum Cystatin C, age, sex, and race,<sup>49</sup> and is generally viewed as the best measure of kidney function.<sup>1</sup> For this thesis, eGFR was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-Epi) formula.<sup>50</sup> Creatinine levels in the blood are also closely monitored as well as urinalysis to monitor for the presence of proteinuria, specifically albuminuria, which may predispose to kidney function decline.<sup>1</sup> A timely referral for KRT planning is important to ensuring appropriate timing of dialysis initiation or transplant.<sup>1</sup> Clinical practice guidelines recommend that patients be referred at least one year prior to anticipated KRT initiation to allow for appropriate education, as well as other referrals and procedures such as vascular access or transplant teams.

There are two main types of dialysis, hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD). HD can be performed in a dialysis center or at home and PD is generally considered a home dialysis therapy. Both HD and PD can be delivered in different ways, with different

terminology throughout the literature. For this proposed thesis, dialysis modality definitions are based on the categories in the Canadian Organ Replacement Register (CORR).<sup>51</sup>

# 2.2.1 Hemodialysis

HD involves removing blood from the body using a pump and cleaning it with a filter (dialyzer).<sup>19,52</sup> Within the dialyzer are two spaces, one for blood and the other for dialysate. The two spaces are separated by a thin membrane, which allows blood to pass through one side and dialysate through the other. Waste is removed from the blood and passes through the membrane into the dialysate and is removed from the body while the "clean" blood returns to the body.<sup>52</sup> To filter the blood through the machine, vascular access is required. There are three main types of vascular access. The preferred access is a native arteriovenous (AV) fistula, followed by a graft, or lastly a central venous catheter.<sup>53</sup> Optimally, catheters are used temporarily for HD as they are associated with higher risks of infection,<sup>52</sup> however, more often than not they serve as the destination access for hemodialysis, with 84.6% of patients treated with HD using a catheter for initial access in 2019 in Canada.<sup>54</sup> HD can be completed at a hospital, dialysis center, or at home. There are different variations of hemodialysis based on frequency and duration.

Conventional HD is standard hemodialysis that is completed two to four (generally three) times a week for three to six hours at a time (generally four hours).<sup>51</sup> It is primarily completed as an outpatient treatment at a hospital or remote dialysis centre (also referred to as a satellite unit).

Home hemodialysis (HHD) is dialysis that occurs in the patient's home environment and is completed by the patient or a caregiver.<sup>55</sup> Short-daily HD is performed during the day or evening for two to three hours; five to seven days a week.<sup>51,56</sup> Slow-nocturnal HD is another home modality that involves dialyzing for five to six nights a week for six to eight hours.<sup>51,52</sup> Some people complete three to four sessions a week while others complete long-frequent dialysis which is five to seven nocturnal sessions a week.<sup>56</sup>

Despite these definitions, home dialysis does not have to follow a specific schedule and allows for flexibility with timing and duration of treatment.<sup>55</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Peritoneal Dialysis

PD is a home dialysis modality that involves a permanent catheter being placed into the peritoneal cavity within the abdomen and the addition of dialysate to remove waste and excess fluid from the body. As the dialysate sits in the peritoneal cavity, blood and excess water flows through peritoneal membrane and collects in something known as a dwell.<sup>57</sup> The fluid is then drained, and the abdomen is refilled. This process is called an exchange and occurs multiple times a day.<sup>46,52</sup> PD can occur continuously or intermittently. PD has the advantage of preserving residual renal function in patients initiating dialysis for the first time.<sup>58</sup>

Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis (CAPD) involves continuous treatment day and night through the peritoneal catheter. The catheter is connected to bags to manually empty the abdomen and refill with new solution, which is about two to three liters of dialysate.<sup>52</sup> Fluid is contained in the abdominal cavity and is exchanged an average of four times a day in spaced out intervals.<sup>51</sup> Each exchange takes an average of 20-45 minutes and dwells for four to 12 hours depending on the time of day and solution being used.

Automated Peritoneal Dialysis (APD) exchanges are performed during sleep by an automated cycler machine.<sup>46,51</sup> Generally, people connect to the cycler for eight to 10 hours every night, during which, three to five exchanges are performed. Some people complete additional exchanges throughout the day.

# 2.2.3 Choosing a Dialysis Modality

Dialysis modality choice is primarily up to patient preference unless a medical contraindication exists.<sup>59</sup> Potential contraindications to dialysis include terminal illness, and anatomical issues for PD, such as a uncorrectable hernias and major abdominal surgery with anticipation of significant intra-abdominal scarring or peritoneal

disruption.<sup>57</sup> A prospective cohort study exploring ineligibility for dialysis modalities found that 98% and 87% of patients were deemed medically eligible for in-center HD and PD respectively,<sup>57</sup> leaving the modality decision primarily up to patient choice. Selecting an appropriate modality involves consideration of multiple factors such as distance to a dialysis center, the patient's education and health literacy level, independence, as well as the overall health of the patient and age at treatment initiation, especially if patients are caregiver-dependent.<sup>19,23</sup>

In-center HD remains the most common modality used. HHD was initially introduced in the 1960's and was widely used until the 1970's, but due to the development of PD, increased funding for expansion of in-center or satellite HD facilities, and increased complexity of the patients using dialysis with older age and greater comorbidity, HHD use severely decreased.<sup>60</sup> However, use of HHD has again increased significantly in recent years.<sup>61</sup> This increase is due to a growing body of evidence suggesting that home dialysis may have equivalent or better patient outcomes, be more cost effective than incenter HD,<sup>6,7,62,63</sup> and allow for increased independence for patients. In Canada, there was a 15% increase in home dialysis (HHD and PD) use for the period of 2010 to 2019.<sup>6</sup> Approximately 4-5% of patients now use HHD.<sup>64</sup> PD is still the more common home modality, with about 20% of patients choosing this option.<sup>64</sup> Today in Canada, a "home first" approach is often used,<sup>7</sup> which involves promoting and educating patients on the benefits of home dialysis.

Patients who choose home dialysis tend to have different characteristics than those who choose in-center HD. Patients using home dialysis historically have been younger and healthier,<sup>65</sup> and have tended to have higher health literacy levels, better financial resources, and higher cognitive function and motivation.<sup>7</sup> Patients are more likely to select a home dialysis modality when they have received timely education on treatment options, have appropriate family support, and if their dialysis center is part of a larger facility.<sup>65</sup>

Patients are less likely to choose a home-based modality if they are residing in a rural area, have not received appropriate education of dialysis options, live alone, have a lack of support, or lack space or appropriate housing for dialysis equipment.<sup>65</sup> Racial minorities such as Asian, Black, or Hispanic people have been found to be less likely to utilize home dialysis modalities than White people.<sup>66,67</sup> Racial minority groups are less likely to hold employment or have Medicaid insurance in the US, which can affect access to home dialysis.<sup>66</sup> Pre-dialysis care is a strong predictor of home dialysis use; a study completed by Shen et al. found that both Black and Hispanic patients were less likely to receive a timely nephrology referral and were also less likely to use PD,<sup>66</sup> which has been supported in another study.<sup>68</sup> Barriers specific to HHD include access to clean water, as well as the electricity required to run the machine.<sup>69</sup> These requirements are typically at the patient's expense. HHD also requires a certain level of technological literacy to operate the machine and troubleshoot any potential problems.

In addition to the differences between patients treated with in-center HD or HHD, there are also characteristic differences between patients who choose HHD over PD. Those patients who choose HHD tend to be younger and healthier with less comorbidities than those initiating PD.<sup>55,70</sup> Patients receiving HHD are also more likely to receive a kidney transplant.<sup>71</sup> A Canadian study of 236 patients initiating PD (*n*=153) or HHD (*n*=98) at the Toronto General Hospital from 2004 to 2008 found that patient characteristics differ based on home modality selection.<sup>72</sup> At baseline, 57% of patients using PD were male compared to 70% of patients using HHD. Those patients who used HHD were also more likely to be White and significantly younger (PD:  $62 \pm 16$  years, HHD:  $46 \pm 13$  years) than patients using PD. Diabetes and hypertension were leading causes of KF for patients treated with PD, while glomerulonephritis was more common causes of KF for patients treated with HHD. Patients receiving PD also tended to have more comorbidities than those receiving HHD. The authors of this study suggest that nephrologists may be more likely to place younger, "healthier" patients on HHD as it requires extensive education and training and the ability to independently use the dialysis machine. PD requires less training and is not as complex making it potentially more appropriate for older patients or those with several comorbidities. This thought process has also been confirmed in

qualitative research, where 27% of interviewed nephrologists indicated they refer their younger patients with less comorbidities for HHD education.<sup>73</sup>

In recent years, with increasing prevalence of KF, especially in older adults due to an aging population, there has been an increase in older and "sicker" patients being placed on both PD and HHD. Advancements in dialysis technology have also expanded the eligibility of home dialysis, as many machines are now more user-friendly and HHD devices have become more automated resulting in easier use for patients.<sup>59</sup> A study comparing trends in HHD and technique and patient survival in Canada across three eras (1996-2002, 2003-2007, and 2008-2012) found that patients in the more recent eras were older, non-White, had a higher BMI, and had the highest prevalence of diabetes as the cause of KF compared to previous eras.<sup>74</sup>

### **2.3 Dialysis Modality and Patient Outcomes**

Comparative outcome studies between dialysis modalities are important for both patients and care providers to be able to make informed decisions about their treatment options. Comparing mortality and morbidity measures such as hospital admission rates and length of stay can help determine if certain modalities come with greater risk or benefits than others. Comparative outcome studies between PD and HHD are limited, and whether one modality is superior remains uncertain.<sup>5,61,75</sup> Studies to date have often used in-center HD as a comparison group to PD or HHD; however, as discussed, the characteristics between patients receiving in-center HD or HHD are limited by bias and residual confounding.<sup>55</sup> PD may be a more appropriate comparative group to HHD as both groups are completing dialysis at home and receive education prior to initiating therapy. Nonetheless, the risk of residual confounding is not entirely removed as the majority of dialysis research is observational.

Comparative studies that do exist have often focused on mortality as the outcome. Patients using HHD have been found to have better survival compared to patients using in-center HD.<sup>8,9</sup> However, as Tennankore et al. acknowledges, comparing outcomes between these two groups may be subject to bias. HHD may appear to be the better modality option based on outcomes; however, those who are ineligible for HHD are typically included in the in-center group.<sup>55</sup> Although scarce, studies comparing survival between HHD and PD have generally found a lower risk of mortality in the HHD group.<sup>11,55,61,65,70</sup> A national Canadian registry study completed using the CORR found that patients treated with incident HHD had 36% lower mortality than those on PD; however, this difference was attenuated in modern eras.<sup>10</sup>

#### 2.3.1 The Burden of Hospitalization in Patients Using Dialysis

While understanding survival differences between dialysis modalities is important, there is evidence to support that patients using dialysis may value QOL over survival.<sup>76</sup> As discussed, patients using dialysis face reduced QOL due to symptom burden and ongoing frequent dialysis treatment, and therefore frequent and lengthy hospitalizations can further reduce QOL. Hospital admissions can indicate the health status of a patient and can be associated with further adverse outcomes, such as repeat admissions, malnutrition, hospital acquired infections, and in-hospital mortality.<sup>77,78</sup>

Dialysis, irrespective of modality is associated with high rates of hospitalization. Patients using dialysis in Canada are hospitalized an average of 1.1 times per patient year (PPY) <sup>5</sup> compared to 0.07 times per PPY in the general population, which is a 16-fold increase.<sup>79</sup> Hospital admissions are higher for US patients using dialysis, (average of 1.58 times PPY), with even higher rates observed in females and White patients.<sup>80</sup> In addition to the impact on patient wellbeing, frequent hospitalizations are expensive and burdensome on the healthcare system. Hospital admissions are the second leading direct cost for patients using dialysis. The average cost of a hospitalization for a patient using dialysis in Canada is \$13,634 and approximately \$310 million per year for total inpatient costs (excluding Quebec).<sup>5</sup> Therefore, research comparing hospitalization outcomes in patients using dialysis is important for both the potential to reduce healthcare expenditures associated with hospital admissions and improving patient outcomes.

Studies comparing in-center HD to home modalities have found conflicting results. Quinn et al. found no difference in hospitalization rates between patients using PD and in-center HD who were eligible for both therapies.<sup>81</sup> These findings were supported by a 2016 study completed by Oliver et al. who found similar hospitalization rates between patients using incident PD and in-center HD.<sup>82</sup> A 2015 study by Weinhandl et al. found that those using HHD and in-center HD had similar rates of all-cause hospital admission; however, patients using HHD had lower rates of re-admission.<sup>83</sup>

A historical study completed by Murphy et al. comparing the number of days spent in hospital between 822 patients receiving in-center HD or PD across Canadian dialysis centers found conflicting results based on how the exposure was defined and if an intention-to-treat or as treated analysis was used.<sup>84</sup> Hospitalization was compared from dialysis modality at baseline and again from dialysis modality at three months from KRT initiation to account for patients who began on in-center HD and switched to PD. Baseline analysis found that receiving dialysis in-center was associated with greater hospitalizations than PD; however, analysis based on modality at three months found that those receiving in-center had lower rates of hospitalization. In as-treated analyses, where modality switches were accounted for, PD was associated with more hospitalizations at baseline and three months. As this study compared PD to an in-center HD group, there is likely unmeasured confounding as characteristics differ in these populations. It was identified that patients who received in-center HD had more comorbidities than those who were on PD,<sup>84</sup> which is understandable given the historical nature of this study (follow up from 1993-1994), where patients with comorbidities were primarily treated with in-center HD.

No systematic reviews directly comparing hospitalization outcomes between patients using HHD or PD have been conducted to date based on a review of the literature. A 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis of 23 articles comparing mortality and hospitalization in patients using intensive HHD (either short-daily HD or long-nocturnal HD), conventional HD, and PD found that intensive HD was associated with reduced mortality and hospitalization compared to other modalities; however, the overall quality of evidence was low.<sup>11</sup> Most of the studies included in this systematic review focused on mortality rather than hospitalization outcomes. Comparison of nocturnal HD to conventional HD in three studies resulted in a pooled mean difference of 1.98 less hospital days PPY (95% confidence interval (CI) -2.37, -1.59) and 0.04 less hospital admissions PPY (95% CI -0.46, 0.38) for patients using nocturnal HD compared to incenter HD. There were insufficient studies comparing hospitalization outcomes between HHD and PD to pool results.

There is one previous Canadian national retrospective cohort study investigating hospitalizations in 38,369 patients using dialysis published in 2018.<sup>24</sup> It included all incident chronic users of dialysis in Canada (excluding Manitoba and Quebec) who initiated dialysis between 2005 to 2014. Most patients in this study were on in-center HD. During the study period, there were 112, 374 hospitalizations. The risk of all-cause hospitalization was highest in pediatric patients, followed by patients aged 18-44, with patients aged 65-74 having a reduced risk of hospitalization compared to other age groups. Those who received dialysis at home (regardless of modality) were at a lower risk for all-cause hospitalization (hazard ratio (HR): 0.84, 95% CI 0.79-0.88). Those who received PD had a higher risk of hospitalization within the first seven days of dialysis initiation (HR: 1.27, 95% CI 1.07-1.50) compared to HD, but not after seven days. Although this study was a national Canadian cohort with a large sample size, most analyses looked at dialysis as a whole and did not stratify by modality. Further, HHD was not considered in this study due to the limited number of patients receiving this treatment at the time.

Four observational studies were identified that compared hospitalization outcomes between PD and HHD, all of which found that HHD was associated with lower hospitalization rates and/or less days spent in hospital than PD. A Swedish registry study completed in 2019 used a matched cohort to investigate morbidity (time to first hospital admission, frequency, and number of days in hospital) in patients receiving either incident HHD, in-center HD, and PD from 1991-2012.<sup>71</sup> They found that patients receiving HHD had a significantly lower median annual admission rate of 1.7 (interquartile range (IQR): 0.9-2.8) compared with in-center HD of 2.2 (IQR: 1.1-4.4) and PD of 2.8 (IQR: 1.3-5.3). Annual length of hospital stay was also lowest for patients using HHD (12 days per year [IQR: 6.6-21.4]) compared with in-center HD (14 days per year [IQR: 6.4-33.3]) and PD (20 days per year [IQR: 9.3-41.2]). Patients receiving HHD had the longest time to first admission, with an average of 0.7 years (IQR: 0.2-1.2) compared to 0.3 years (IQR: 0.1-0.8) for in-center HD and 0.4 years (IQR: 0.1-0.9) for PD patients.

The other three studies were completed in the US. The first was a small prospective cohort study of 86 patients completed in Los Angeles from March 2003 to November 2007 that examined hospitalization rates and days in hospital between patients treated with daily HHD (n= 22) or PD (n= 64) and found that those using daily HHD experienced 0.68 admissions PPY and 3.3 days PPY compared to 0.76 admissions PPY and 5.6 days PPY in those using PD.<sup>85</sup> The adjusted risk ratios comparing both admissions and length of stay between HHD and PD patients were not statistically significant. This study was limited by its small sample size, which likely caused lower power to detect significant results and by being confined to one single dialysis center.

The second study was completed in 2015 and used the United States Renal Data System (USRDS) to conduct a propensity score matched retrospective cohort study to compare dialysis-related hospitalizations in patients using PD or daily HHD. Those who received daily HHD had a 0.73 times lower hazard of hospital admission (95% CI 0.67-0.79), with a hospitalization rate of 0.94 PPY, compared to patients using PD who had a rate of 1.36 PPY.<sup>75</sup> Those patients receiving daily HHD spent an average 5.2 days PPY in hospital compared to 9.2 days PPY for those receiving PD. These findings were confirmed with another study completed in 2016 using USRDS records to compare propensity score matched patients using either PD or daily HHD from 2006 to 2010 that found those using HHD had lower hospitalization rates (173.7 versus 199.0 admissions (HR: 0.92, 95% CI 0.89-0.95) and 1,027.2 versus 1,266.9 days per 100 patient-years (RR: 0.81, 95% CI 0.75-0.87) for HHD and PD, respectively).<sup>61</sup> The association was most pronounced when the analysis was restricted to those who initiated home dialysis after more than six

months of KF. Those who began home dialysis (either PD or HHD) at early KF diagnosis had similar hospitalization rates.

Randomized Control Trials (RCTs) with modality comparisons are limited and difficult due to ethical issues around randomizing patients to a specific treatment. Korevaar et al. attempted to conduct an RCT investigating survival and quality of life by randomizing patients to either in-center HD or PD across 38 dialysis centers in the Netherlands from January 1997 to August 2000; however, failed to recruit the minimum number of participants because patients expressed a personal preference for dialysis modality choice.<sup>86</sup> The Frequent Hemodialysis Network (FHN) clinical trials, compared outcomes between different frequencies of weekly dialysis that involved randomizing patients to either three times a week HD for five hours or less sessions, or six times per week for six hours or more<sup>87,88</sup>; however, patients were only randomized to HD frequency and duration, not modality. Furthermore, there were no comparisons with PD in these studies.

#### 2.4 Mechanism Linking Home Dialysis to Hospitalizations

As discussed, KF and dialysis use are associated with frequent hospitalizations. Home dialysis use, specifically HHD has been associated with improved hospitalization outcomes. There are several proposed mechanisms behind this relationship including improved cardiovascular health, reduced anemia, better phosphate control and better nutrition due to a more intensive dialysis regimen.<sup>89,90</sup> Another potential mechanism is that home dialysis (particularly more frequent HHD prescriptions) potentially avoids the two-day interdialytic break that occurs in patients receiving in-center HD, which has been found to be followed by increased rates of hospitalization.<sup>91</sup> Common causes of hospitalizations in patients using dialysis are for cardiovascular reasons, infections, and access related concerns.

# 2.4.1 Cardiovascular Events

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death for patients using dialysis and are also a major cause of hospitalization.<sup>92</sup> Patients using HHD have been found to have lower cardiovascular related hospital admissions.<sup>71</sup> Suri et al. found that patients using

HHD had a 0.66 (95% CI 0.58-0.74) times lower hazard of cardiovascular hospital admissions compared to those using PD.<sup>75</sup> Weinhandl et al. also found that compared to PD, those using HHD had lower cardiovascular mortality (HR: 0.81, 95% CI 0.70-0.93), as well as lower risk of cardiovascular related hospital admission (HR 0.85, 95% CI 0.80-0.91).<sup>61</sup>

There are likely multiple factors contributing to these improved cardiovascular outcomes in patients treated with HHD compared to patients treated with conventional HD or PD. One proposed mechanism is left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), which is defined as increase in the mass of the left ventricle of the heart.<sup>93</sup> LVH is common in patients with KF and is a known risk factor for CVD. Mechanisms for the development of LVH include altered mineral metabolism, anemia, hypertension, and hypervolemia from KF.<sup>94</sup> A Canadian RCT comparing LVH between in-center HD and nocturnal HD, found that that nocturnal HD reduced LVH over a six-month period, compared to patients using incenter HD, which actually had an increase in LVH.<sup>95</sup> Another RCT, which was part of the FHN trials, also identified a reduction in LVH for patients using frequent nocturnal HHD, with a mean decrease of 10.9 grams (95% CI -23.7, 1.8); despite the statistical insignificance of this finding and the wide confidence interval, which is likely due to small sample size, this finding is consistent with the literature.<sup>87</sup> A further FHN trial comparing in-center HD six times per week versus three times per week also found that the those using more frequent dialysis had a greater reduction in LVH.<sup>88</sup>

Other mechanisms for reduced hospitalization in patients using HHD include improved phosphate control and reduced hypertension,<sup>87,88</sup> both of which are risk factors for LVH. A systematic review examining outcomes of patients using daily HD reported that 10 out of 11 studies observed decreases in blood pressure.<sup>96</sup> Other suggestions include better fluid control, better urea clearance and waste removal, and improved mineral metabolism, all of which can affect cardiovascular health. This can be supported by evidence showing that patients using HHD have reduced interdialytic weight gain, suggesting better fluid removal.<sup>88</sup> Fluid overload is a common problem for patients using PD,<sup>97</sup> and has been found to contribute to LVH and hypertension.<sup>98</sup> Additionally, patients using PD often

gain weight at initiation of treatment and tend to have higher levels of blood lipids than patients using HD, which is thought to be from the glucose in the PD dialysate, and therefore potentially increasing the risk of CVD, and subsequent hospitalization.<sup>99,100</sup>

# 2.4.2 Infection

Infection related hospitalization is common in patients using dialysis.<sup>71,78,101,102</sup> Septicemia and access-related infections are common causes of hospitalization.<sup>78</sup> Lafrance et al. completed a propensity matched cohort study in 2012 and found that 21% and 12% of hospitalizations were contributed to infection for patients using PD and incenter HD, respectively.<sup>102</sup> Those using PD had a 1.52-fold higher hazard of infection related admission compared to those using HD (95% CI 1.34-1.74). Weinhandl et al. found that compared to patients using PD, patients using HHD had lower infection related mortality (HR: 0.71, 95% CI 0.55-0.91), as well as lower rates of infection related hospital admissions (HR: 0.89, 95% CI 0.84-0.94).<sup>61</sup> A study by Suri et al. found that patients using HHD had a 0.81-fold lower hazard ratio (95% CI 0.73-0.90) compared to patients using PD for infection related hospital admission<sup>75</sup>; however, when comparing HHD to in-center HD, those receiving HHD had 1.15 times higher hazard ratio (95% CI 1.04-1.29) for infection related admissions. Another study had similar findings with patients using HHD having a 1.32 times higher hazard of infection related admission compared to in-center HD (95% CI 1.24-1.40).<sup>83</sup>

A potential mechanism as to why patients treated with HHD have more infection-related admissions than those treated with in-center HD is that there may be a higher chance of user error, as patients are completing their own dialysis at home, rather than having a trained professional perform the dialysis in a more sterile hospital environment. Septicemia related hospital admissions are also higher in patients using HHD.<sup>61,75,102</sup> The rationale behind the higher prevalence of septicemia in patients using HHD is thought to be due to the more frequent cannulation (particularly for AV fistula or graft access), increasing the potential for bacteria to enter the blood stream.<sup>75</sup> Suri et al. have postulated that HHD may have higher infection-related admissions than in-centre HD because patients receiving in-center HD have the opportunity to receive intravenous antibiotics

administered during a dialysis session if necessary, while patients using HHD may require admission to administer antibiotics, therefore increasing the rate of infection-related hospitalization.<sup>75</sup>

Reasons contributing to less infection related hospital admissions for HHD compared to PD are similar to the reasons for reduced cardiovascular hospitalizations and include better solute clearance and fluid removal. Patients treated with HHD have been found to fewer uremia-related symptoms.<sup>103</sup> Better dialysis clearance of endogenous toxins through HHD may mitigate the decreased immune function that accompanies uremia and subsequent infection-related hospitalization.<sup>101,104</sup>

# 2.4.3 Access Complications

As previously described, HD requires access to the bloodstream. Patients using HHD face frequent access complications. Dialysis access related infections (including peritonitis) have been found to be lower in patients using HHD compared to PD<sup>61</sup>; however, higher in HHD compared to in-center HD.<sup>75</sup> Compared to in-center HD, patients using HHD have been found to have greater access failures and procedures.<sup>87,88</sup> It is thought the reasons for this is the increase in use of access due to increased dialysis compared to conventional HD. Patients using HHD must undergo significant patient education. Although PD also requires education, the technique for PD is not as complex. HHD requires self-cannulation, and many patients use AV fistulas. A Canadian study of 202 patients treated with HHD followed from 1999 to 2011, found that most adverse events occur in patients with a fistula and were often the result of needle dislodgement, followed by an air embolism,<sup>105</sup> all of which can contribute to both hospitalizations and mortality. Patients that use PD do not face vascular access complications however, do have higher rates of abdominal related infections such as peritonitis.<sup>102</sup>

# 2.5 Predictors of Hospitalization in Patients Using Dialysis

There are factors that increase the likelihood of a patient on dialysis being hospitalized such as age, sex, race, comorbidities, obesity, and SES. Many of these risk factors are

also related. For example, those of lower SES are more likely to be racial minorities, face greater rates of obesity, as well as have greater comorbidities.

### 2.5.1 Age

As discussed previously, older age is a risk factor for KF. Age is also a risk factor for being hospitalized while on dialysis.<sup>106</sup> Older adults often have higher comorbidity burden, which is also a risk factor for hospitalization. It has been shown that elderly patients (>75 years) experience a high rate of hospitalization.<sup>24</sup> A historical study completed by Rocco et al. found that the risk of being hospitalized while receiving dialysis increased with age.<sup>87</sup>

## 2.5.2 Sex

Females in the general population often live longer than males. Hecking et al. suggests that this survival advantage is attenuated in those with KF.<sup>38</sup> Females receiving HD in the US have a 20% higher all-cause hospitalization rate than males, as well as a higher rate of infection related hospitalization regardless of modality.<sup>37</sup> In a national Canadian retrospective cohort study by Molnar et al., females receiving dialysis had a higher risk of all-cause hospitalization than males (HR: 1.08, 95% CI 1.05-1.11).<sup>24</sup> A large cohort study of patients using incident HD in the US from 2007 to 2011 found that 73% of the cohort was hospitalized at least once during follow up and the unadjusted rate of hospitalization was 1.68 PPY for males (95% CI 1.67-1.68) and 2.08 PPY for females (95% CI 2.07-2.09), with younger females having especially high hospitalization rates.<sup>107</sup>

While the reasoning behind sex differences and hospitalization among patients using dialysis is not entirely understood, it is thought there are both biological, clinical, and social circumstances contributing to the higher hospitalization rates in females. First, females are more prone to certain autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and sickle cell anemia, all of which can affect the kidneys<sup>108</sup> and contribute to comorbidity and subsequent hospitalization. Serum albumin levels have been found to differ by sex, suggesting that females may be of poorer health status while on dialysis,<sup>107</sup> and therefore at increased risk for hospitalization. Building on

this point, males have been found to have greater comorbidity, a quicker disease progression<sup>37,38</sup> and are also more likely to smoke.<sup>37,38,108</sup> It is possible that the sickest males have died before dialysis initiation and therefore the "healthier" males are the ones being studied while the female cohorts would include both sick and healthy patients.

Females experience more infection related complications than males, and it has been found that females are more likely to use a catheter for dialysis access than males,<sup>37,38</sup> which is associated with higher rates of infection and subsequent hospitalization. Further, females have been found to receive less weekly dialysis time than males,<sup>37</sup> which could mean they do not experience the suggested clinical benefits of an intensive dialysis regime. The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study suggests that females may experience lower SES, which is associated with greater healthcare utilization.<sup>38</sup> Females in the cohort tended to be older, had a longer dialysis vintage than males and were less likely to be married, employed, and had less education, which are indicators of lower SES.

### 2.5.3 Race

Despite racial and ethnic minority groups having increased risks of KF, paradoxically, they have been found to have lower risks of both hospitalization and mortality in the literature.<sup>24,67,109</sup> A 2014 study investigating the relationship between both race and ethnicity and hospitalization outcomes in patients initiating HD in the US between 1995 and 2009 found that hospitalization varies by both race, ethnicity, and age group.<sup>68</sup> Younger Hispanics and Blacks had less comorbidities such as DM and CVD than White patients, however, in the older age groups (>80 years), comorbidities were higher. Hospitalization rate and days in hospital, followed by Blacks and then Whites, in the middle age groups. Unadjusted hospitalization rates were 1.89, 2.01, and 2.07 PPY, and days in hospital were 13.91, 14.94, and 15.20, for Hispanic, Black, and White patients, respectively. However, in the older age group, Hispanic patients had higher rates all-cause hospitalization than White patients. Black people had higher hospitalization rates than White people in the youngest and oldest age groups. It is suggested this

relationship could be due to socioeconomic factors such as insurance, employment, and access to medical care as well as a lack of trust in the medical system; however, it was noted that the hospitalization difference between Black and White patients in these age groups were more was more attenuated in more modern era.

The reasoning behind these paradoxical findings is not entirely understood. One potential explanation is that racial minority groups are less likely to receive a kidney transplant than White patients, which would result in the "healthiest" White patients being censored, leaving behind a sicker White population compared to racial minorities.<sup>67,110</sup> Another potential explanation is that racial minorities do not receive the necessary care for KF and therefore they have died before they could receive dialysis treatment. Other potential mechanisms include biological differences such as better nutrition or less inflammation in minorities. Black patients using dialysis have been found to have a leaner body mass, higher muscle mass, better biochemical markers including higher albumin, and lower creatinine, as well as greater nutritional intake, potentially indicating less malnutrition,<sup>111,112</sup> all of which could be protective against being hospitalized.

# 2.5.4 Comorbidity

Patients using dialysis experience high comorbidity, which can lead to complications and hospitalization. In the national Canadian study looking at hospitalizations in patients using dialysis by Molnar et al., patients with comorbidities were significantly more likely to be hospitalized. Patients with CVD, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, and malignancy had 1.14, 1.13, 1.06, 1.16, and 1.21 times greater relative hazard of hospitalization, respectively.<sup>24</sup> A study completed by Clark et al. found that patients experiencing high frailty tended to have multiple comorbidities and had increased risk of hospitalization.<sup>113</sup> Another study found a 1.20 (95% CI 1.16-1.23) times greater risk for hospital admission for each point increase in the Charlson Comorbidity Index.<sup>114</sup> Diabetes is associated with increased risk of infection.<sup>102</sup> Obesity is also significant risk factor for morbidity, which can contribute to hospitalization.

# 2.5.5 Socioeconomic Status

People of lower SES often experience worse health outcomes compared to higher SES groups. Lower SES groups can experience poorer living conditions, work more laborious jobs, and are more likely to engage in risky health behaviours such as smoking and alcohol consumption,<sup>115</sup> all of which can contribute to developing health conditions that can result in being hospitalized. KF prevalence has been found to be greater in those of lower SES.<sup>116</sup> In Canada, those of lower SES have higher rates of hospitalization for chronic conditions that could have potentially been preventable hospitalizations. This implies that with appropriate care these hospitalizations could have likely been managed on an outpatient basis.<sup>117,118</sup> A US study conducted by Saunders et al. found that CKD patients residing in lower SES neighbourhoods experienced significantly greater hospitalization rates compared to those residing in higher SES neighbourhoods after adjusting for demographic characteristics and individual SES indicators.<sup>119</sup> Patients on dialysis that are of lower SES have also been found to have a greater mortality risk.<sup>120</sup>

#### 2.5.6 Late Nephrology Referral

Dialysis initiation requires a timely referral to a nephrologist to ensure adequate time to select a modality, allow for education/training, and prepare dialysis access. A late referral is often defined as a referral to a nephrologist less than three months before dialysis initiation.<sup>1,10</sup> The Study to Assess Renal Replacement Therapy (STARRT) was a multicenter Canadian study that investigated pre-dialysis care in Canada and investigated how a suboptimal dialysis start was associated with health outcomes in the first six months of KRT across patients using either HD, HHD, or PD.<sup>121</sup> The majority (64.6%) of patients were followed by a nephrologist for greater than 12 months prior to KF, however. 15.3%, and 6.3% were followed for less than one month, or one to three months, respectively, meeting the definition for a late referral. Of those patients who did experience a suboptimal dialysis start, 44% were late referrals. It was also found that patients using HD were less likely to have an optimal start compared to those using PD. A 2013 study completed by Nadeau-Fredette et al. found that patients using HHD who had a suboptimal dialysis start, which was defined as beginning dialysis on a central venous catheter or in hospital, had a 2.96 (95% CI 1.50-5.85) times greater hazard ratio of

experiencing earlier hospitalization, technique failure, or death compared to patients with an optimal start after adjusting for age, race, sex, and comorbidities.<sup>122</sup>

#### 2.6 Rationale and Knowledge Gap

As home dialysis use continues to rise in Canada and internationally, understanding comparative outcomes with these modalities is crucial. Frequent hospitalizations are expensive and negatively impact patient QOL. Understanding if HHD has lower hospitalizations than PD is useful to both patients and clinicians when deciding on treatment options, especially where both are being considered. Further, understanding why a certain home modality may contribute to greater hospitalizations can help determine where to target resources to prevent future hospitalizations for patients receiving that therapy. While PD has been in use for a while, HHD is re-emerging as a popular dialysis option. Comparative studies between PD and HHD are scarce and tend to focus on mortality. While a few studies comparing hospitalization outcomes between PD and HHD have been done,<sup>61,71,75,85</sup> they have had small sample sizes, were only done in a single center, or were completed in a different country. One national Canadian study looking at hospitalization outcomes has been done; however, it did not look at HHD as at the time there were insufficient patients receiving that treatment. Our study also explored sex and racial differences between home modalities, which few other studies have done. Therefore, to the best of our knowledge, this was the first national Canadian study looking at comparative hospitalization outcomes in the home dialysis population.

Looking at hospitalization outcomes across eras allowed us to see if trends have changed over time. To our knowledge, hospitalizations in patients using home dialysis have not been extensively studied across eras. Weinhandl et al. compared hospitalization in HHD versus in-center HD in two eras (2006-2007 and 2008-2009), and found no differences;<sup>83</sup> however, the follow up time was short, and would not be expected to show an era effect. A study comparing mortality in HHD and PD across era found the differences between the two groups attenuated in more modern times.<sup>10</sup> Our hypothesis was that there was potential that we may see an increase in hospitalizations in more modern eras due to an increase in older and sicker patients being placed on home modalities, most notably

HHD. However, as dialysis technology has improved, any hospitalization differences in HHD and PD may be attenuated in more modern eras compared to more historical times.

#### **Chapter 3: Methods**

#### **3.1 Objectives**

The present thesis had two objectives which aimed to answer the following research question: do all-cause hospitalizations (hospitalization rates, days in hospital, and time to first hospitalization) differ between incident home dialysis modalities (PD or HHD) and have these patterns changed over time?

#### 3.1.1 Objective One

To compare all-cause hospitalization (hospitalization rates, days in hospital, and time to first hospitalization) between patients using incident PD or HHD.

#### 3.1.2 Objective Two

To compare if all-cause hospitalization (hospitalization rates, days in hospital, and time to first hospitalization) in patients using incident PD or HHD was modified by sex, race, and era of dialysis initiation, respectively.

# **3.2 Design and Population**

We conducted a retrospective national cohort study of all adult patients with KF who initiated home dialysis within 90 days of KRT start, between January 1, 2005, to December 31, 2018, in Canada (excluding Quebec and Manitoba). Data on outcomes of interest were captured until July 1, 2020. Data were obtained from the administrative databases including the Canadian Organ Replacement Register (CORR) and the Discharge Abstract Database (DAD). Both databases are managed by the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). The data in the CORR and the DAD were previously linked by health card numbers by CIHI prior to analysis. The CORR is a longitudinal national administrative database of both center and patient level data for all individuals living with end-stage organ failure in Canada,<sup>123</sup> with the exception of Quebec and Manitoba due to a lack of inclusion in the CORR database for the years covering the cohort for Quebec, and the inability to link hospitalization data for Manitoba. The CORR has been previously validated for clinical research.<sup>124</sup> CORR

patients are followed from initial treatment until death. The CORR retrospectively collects information on demographics, clinical and outcome related data as well as transplantation, donation, and KRT data. To collect data pertaining to patients with KF receiving KRT, an initial registration form is completed and a follow up form is completed annually by care providers.<sup>51</sup> A change of status form is completed when a patient dies, receives a transplant, or changes dialysis modality.

The DAD contains administrative, clinical, and demographic information on hospital discharges and the most responsible diagnosis (using ICD-10 CA codes) for all patients in Canada.<sup>125</sup> Information for the DAD was received directly from acute care facilities from their health authorities. For the years of inclusion, all provinces and territories were required to report, except for Quebec. All dates in the CORR and DAD were randomly shifted by 15 days as part of the data de-identification process; however, the time interval between dates (e.g., the date between dialysis start and a hospital admission) remained the same.

# 3.3 Exclusion Criteria (Primary Analyses)

Those who had no exposure to either PD or HHD after 90 days of initiating KRT were excluded, as well as those who had previously received a kidney transplant.<sup>102</sup> Patients who belonged to the age group 15-19 (median age of 17 years) or less at dialysis initiation, and those who had sex coded as "other" were also excluded. Appendix 2 contains a flowchart of the exclusion process.

# 3.4 Ethics

Ethics approval for use of the linked dataset was previously granted to co-supervisor Dr. Karthik Tennankore through the Nova Scotia Health Authority Ethics Board (NSHA-REB) (REB file # 1025033). My name was added as a research team member on November 5, 2021.
# 3.5 Exposure Variable

The exposure variable of interest was incident home dialysis modality (PD or HHD), which means those patients initiating home dialysis for the first time. Many patients using home dialysis, especially HHD, do not immediately initiate dialysis at home, rather they receive in-center dialysis for a brief time before transitioning to home. Therefore, to avoid excluding patients who may have started in-center HD but were intending to initiate with home dialysis, the exposure was defined as all patients who were on home dialysis by day 90 after initiation of KRT as commonly defined in similar studies in this field.<sup>10,71</sup>

The exposure variable was derived from the response options on the CORR initial registration form for chronic renal failure patients on renal replacement therapy (appendix 3). Clinicians must indicate the location the patient received dialysis with the options of acute care hospital, chronic care hospital, community centre, and at home. Clinicians must also select a response to the type of category with the options of conventional HD, short-daily HD, slow-nocturnal HD, CAPD, APD, and PD combined with HD. A change in status form was submitted when a patient switched modalities, which captured the required data for patients who switched from in-center to home dialysis within 90 days. For this study, HHD was defined as any hemodialysis completed at home. All HHD types were combined into one variable for multiple reasons. The first reason was the anticipation of a small sample size of HHD subgroups and therefore combing them resulted in greater statistical power. The second was to account for the lack of standardized HHD category definitions and for the reasoning that HHD prescriptions frequently change and patients may be prescribed a treatment but are not following it.<sup>55</sup> Lastly, it was not anticipated that hospitalization outcomes would vary based on subtype as evidenced in a previous study and therefore stratification by subtype was not required.<sup>91</sup> Peritoneal dialysis included both CAPD and APD, as these modalities are commonly combined in the literature.<sup>91</sup> Table 1 provides a detailed description of how the exposure was defined and coded.

# 3.6 Outcome Variables

The outcome variables of interest were all-cause hospitalization rate, cumulative days in hospital, and the time to the first hospitalization. Hospitalization rates and days in hospital included all hospitalizations that occurred in patients while receiving home dialysis during the follow-up period. For patients that had multiple hospitalizations, time to the first hospitalization only included the initial hospitalization. Table 2 provides a detailed description of how the outcomes were defined and coded.

#### 3.7 Covariable Assessment

Covariables included in the adjusted multivariable models were selected a priori based on a review of the literature<sup>10,11,24,81,85,91,102,113</sup> and a Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) (appendix 1). Selected covariables were those collected at baseline and time-varying covariables were not updated in this thesis as they were not captured in the CORR, except for dialysis access which was poorly captured.<sup>74</sup> Covariables included age, sex, race, cause of KF, relevant comorbidities, body mass index (BMI), era of dialysis initiation, late referral to a nephrologist, and income quintile. A list of the covariables and how they were coded for analysis can be found in table 3. For privacy reasons, age in the CORR was a continuous variable coded as the median value of five-year age groups. Both race and sex were physician identified on the initial registration form. Race in CORR was stated as White, Black, or other; however, for this thesis was defined as a binary variable with "yes" being if the patient represented the majority racial group (non-Hispanic White in the CORR) and "no" being if the patient represented a minority racial group (Black or other). Cause of KF was categorized into the main primary reasons for KF; see appendix 3 for specific causes that fall under each category. Comorbidities in CORR were based on presence or absence of a given condition at initiation of KRT. Late nephrology referral was defined as a referral to a nephrologist less than three months prior to initiating KRT, as commonly defined in the literature.<sup>1,10</sup> Income quintile was a derived variable in the CORR created from the patient's postal code to estimate patient level household income based on neighbourhood income levels.<sup>24</sup>

# **3.8 Power Calculation**

The exact sample size of the study population was not known prior to analysis and therefore the power calculations were based on the best estimate of what the anticipated sample size would be. In a two-sided test (alpha=0.05) with a sample size of approximately 11,676 participants (n= 11,321 PD, n= 355 HHD), an approximate standard deviation of 0.172, an R<sup>2</sup> of 0.1, and the probability of being hospitalized of 59% while receiving dialysis,<sup>81</sup> we had 98.9% power to detect a hazard ratio of 0.73 (from previous research<sup>75</sup>) or 20.3% power to detect a hazard ratio of 0.92 (from previous research<sup>61</sup>) comparing HHD to PD. Using the same sample size, standard deviation and R<sup>2</sup> parameters above, and assuming 80% power, we were able to detect an approximate hazard ratio of 0.81.

# **3.9 Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were conducted using Stata/SE software version 17.0 (StataCorp. 2021. *Stata Statistical Software: Release 17.0.* College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC).

Descriptive statistics were reported stratified by home modality. The follow up period for the primary analyses began at initiation of home dialysis. Patients were followed until transplant, death, withdrawal from dialysis, treatment failure, loss to follow-up or end of the study period (July 1, 2020). Patients who switched dialysis modalities (referred to as treatment failure), were censored only if the switch lasted at least 30 days or resulted in death. If a patient using home dialysis switched back to their original home modality within 30 days, it was not considered a censoring event and any outcome events were attributed the home modality the patient was using.

# 3.9.1 Objective One

Hospitalization rates for both PD and HHD, respectively, were calculated by dividing the total number of hospitalization events by the total time at risk and reported as a count per 1000 patient-days. Days in hospital for both PD and HHD, respectively were calculated as total number of days spent in hospital divided by the total time at risk and reported as

count per 1000 patient-days. Patients who experienced no hospitalization events only contributed to the total time at risk.

Comparison of the hospitalization rates and days in hospital between patients treated with PD or HHD was done using multivariable negative binomial regression models and reported using adjusted incidence rate ratios (IRRs) with 95% confidence intervals. This modelling approach is similar to a Poisson regression, however, is more flexible as it allows for overdispersion, which is common in hospitalization data.<sup>126,127</sup> Some individuals are more likely to experience recurrent events than others, which violates the assumption of homogeneity in a Poisson model. The negative binomial model allows for more variability and is able to accommodate varying likeliness of repeated hospitalizations in some subjects in the population.<sup>127,128</sup> For repeated event data with overdispersion, negative binomial or Andersen-Gill models are preferred and are comparable when using robust standard error estimates; however, Andersen-Gill has the advantage of more complex analyses such as modelling time-varying covariables.<sup>129</sup> As time-varying covariables are not being updated in this analysis, the negative binomial regression was determined to be the most appropriate model. The model was assessed for both influential and implausible outliers. Model fit was assessed by comparing observed versus predicted outcome variables.<sup>130</sup>

Time to first hospitalization was modelled using unadjusted cumulative incidence curves and a multivariable adjusted Fine-Gray subdistribution hazard model with 95% confidence intervals. The competing risks accounted for were death or kidney transplant.<sup>131</sup> Cumulative incidence curves were chosen because Kaplan-Meier curves are not appropriate in the presence of competing risks as the assumption of random censoring is violated and will result in an overestimation of the outcome. The cumulative incidence function (CIF) estimates incidence while accounting for competing risks.<sup>132</sup> The Fine-Gray subdistribution hazard model is an extension of the Cox proportional hazards model that allows for competing risks. Although it is acknowledged that the cause-specific hazard model may be an appropriate model for rates<sup>133</sup> and etiologic questions,<sup>132</sup> the Fine-Gray subdistribution model was selected as it is considered more appropriate in the nephrology literature when the focus is on clinical outcomes and more appropriate for predicting the occurrence of an event over an extended period of time.<sup>134</sup> The proportional hazard assumption was checked using Schoenfeld residuals methods and graphically checked with a log cumulative hazard plot.

Robust standard errors were used in all models to account for any potential model misspecification, such as overdispersion, which is common in count data. Using robust standard errors, results in wider confidence intervals, which allowed us to produce more conservative estimates. <sup>135,136</sup> To account for confounding, multivariable adjusted regression models were used. While propensity score (PS) matching is a common approach to control for confounding in the nephrology literature,<sup>8,59,78,82,102</sup> there is evidence to support that in the presence of censoring, PS matching may actually introduce selection bias as while the characteristics of participants may be balanced at baseline, as censoring occurs the balance between groups is likely not maintained.<sup>137</sup> PS matching also has the further disadvantage of reducing sample size by excluding participants who cannot be matched.<sup>138,139</sup> It is further supported that PS matching is most appropriate with the outcome is rare and the sample size is small.<sup>140</sup> An editorial of an article by Kazmi et al. that used both traditional regression modelling for confounding and PS matching to investigate the association between late nephrology referrals and mortality in KRT patients describes that both methods produced almost identical results and that in most situations PS matching has no further advantage over traditional regression modelling.<sup>139</sup> Therefore, as this study had a large sample size, adequate statistical power, and given the high prevalence of patients that were hospitalized, it was justified that using traditional multivariable modelling to control for relevant covariables was appropriate for the analyses.

Covariables included in the analyses defined a priori were the same for all primary models. Covariables selected for the models were determined based on a review of the literature, and consideration of both clinical significance and biological plausibility, and further informed by a DAG (appendix 1). Missing data for comorbidities were coded as "no" under the assumption that on the CORR registration form leaving a comorbidity box

blank would indicate the absence of the condition. Missing data was minimal (approximately <5%) for the remainder of variables, and therefore were handled through a complete case analysis as this is appropriate when datasets are large.<sup>141</sup>

# 3.9.2 Objective Two

Prespecified interactions were tested between home dialysis modality and the following covariables: sex, race, and era of dialysis initiation based on previous literature.<sup>10</sup> Interaction plots were used to visually assess the interactions. All interactions were stratified on regardless of statistical significance to assess for effect measure modification. The eras were selected by dividing the 13 years of follow up into the following categories: era 1 (2005-2009), era 2 (2010-2014), and era 3 (2015-2018).

# 3.9.3 Sensitivity Analyses

Sensitivity analyses were performed to compare different home dialysis exposure definitions. We repeated all analyses with the exposure defined as those who initiated home dialysis within 180 days and 365 days of KRT, respectively. We conducted an additional sensitivity analysis of including eGFR in the models to assess if this changed our findings. It was decided a priori that if adding eGFR to the models resulted in a 10% change in effect size, we would report both models. The eGFR variable was previously calculated using the CKD-EPI formula based on sex, race, age, and creatinine levels and already available in the dataset.<sup>50</sup> The eGFR was only measured once at initial dialysis initiation and therefore was available at the time of home dialysis initiation. Lastly, a sensitivity analysis was performed to assess if the type of baseline HHD access the patient used at dialysis initiation had any effect on hospitalization outcomes. Analyses were stratified by HHD access type to compare those receiving HHD via catheter to PD and then those receiving HHD via AV fistula or AV graft to PD.

# 3.10 Tables

Exposure Variable	Definition	Variable Coding
Home dialysis modality	Initial home dialysis	0= Peritoneal Dialysis
	treatment (PD or HHD)	(combining CAPD and
	within 90 days of KRT	APD)
	start, as completed by the	
	clinician in the CORR	1= Home Hemodialysis
	Initial Registration Form.	(combining conventional,
	_	short daily, and slow
		nocturnal hemodialysis
		with location listed at
		home)

 Table 1. Exposure variable and how it was defined and coded

Table 2.	Outcome	variables	for o	bjec	ctives	and ho	w they	were	defined	and coded	ł
_			_								

<b>Outcome Variable</b>	<b>Definition and Coding</b>	Notes
Hospitalization rate	Rate per 1000 patient-days	Calculated as the number of hospitalization events /
	A count variable of	total time at risk for both
	hospitalizations derived from	PD and HHD groups,
	each hospital admission	respectively.
	up period	
	up period.	
Days in hospital	Number of days spent in	Calculated as the number
	hospital per 1000 patient-	of days spent in hospital /
	days	total time at risk for both
	This variable was a derived	respectively.
	variable in the DAD known	
	as calculated length of stay,	
	which was defined as the	
	difference in days, between	
	admission date and discharge	
T	date.	TT1 · · · 1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
lime to first	End type variable:	This variable indicated if
nospitalization	2 = Transplant	event of interest
	3= Treatment failure	(hospitalization), a
	4= Loss to follow up	competing event (death or
	5= Administrative end date	kidney transplant), or a
	6= Hospitalization	censoring event (treatment
		failure, loss to follow up or

Outcome Variable	Definition and Coding	Notes
		the administrative end
		date).
	Time:	The time variable was the
	The time from initiation of	date the patient began
	home dialysis to the date of	home dialysis to the date
	first hospital admission	the patient was hospitalized
	reported as days.	or censored.

# Table 3. Covariables included in the primary analyses and how they were coded

Covariable	Coding of Variable	Notes
Age group	Continuous variable	Median value of the five-
	representing the median of	year age group the patient
	each age group coded as:	is in at initial dialysis
		date. An example: if
	Median age of $22=20-24$	someone were between
	Median age of 27= 25-29	the ages 5-9, they would
	Median age of $32=30-34$	be coded as 7.
	Median age of 37= 35-39	
	Median age of $42 = 40-44$	
	Median age of 47= 45-49	
	Median age of $52=50-54$	
	Median age of $57=55-59$	
	Median age of $62 = 60-64$	
	Median age of $67 = 65-69$	
	Median age of $72 = 70-74$	
	Median age of 77= 75+	
Sex	0= Male (ref)	
	1= Female	
Race	0= No, not in majority racial	
	group	
	1 = Yes, in majority racial	
	group (ref)	
BMI $(kg/m^2)$	$0 = \le 18.5$	Categorized based the on
	1 = 18.5 - 24.9 (ref)	Canadian Guidelines for
	2=25-29.9	Body Weight
	$3 = \ge 30$	Classification in
		Adults. <sup>142</sup>

Covariable	Coding of Variable	Notes		
Cause of KF	0 = Diabetes	Based on diagnosis code		
	1= Glomerulonephritis/	on the CORR initial		
	autoimmune diseases	registration form		
	2= Renovascular diseases	(appendix 3).		
	3= Congenital/hereditary renal			
	diseases & Polycystic kidney			
	disease			
	4= Other/unknown			
Comorbidities		Comorbidities present at		
		baseline at the time of		
Coronary artery disease	0= No	KRT initiation. Defined		
	1=Yes	as the presence or		
		absence of the condition.		
Congestive heart failure	0= No			
	1=Yes			
Cerebrovascular disease	0= No			
	1=Yes			
Peripheral vascular	0= No			
disease	l= Yes			
	0 = No			
Chronic obstructive lung	I= Yes			
disease				
Dui an air lian ann an	$ \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \bigcup_{$			
Prior malignancy	I = Y es			
	$0 - V_{22}$			
Ilunautongion	0 - 1  es			
rippertension	1-10			
Fra	0 = 2005 - 2009	The time period in		
Liu	1 = 2010 - 2014	calendar years in which		
	2 = 2015 - 2018	the national jours in which		
	2 2013 2010	dialysis.		

Covariable	Coding of Variable	Notes
Late referral	0 = No (ref)	The date a patient first
	1=Yes	sees a nephrologist is
		captured on the initial
		registration form in the
		CORR. A late referral is
		commonly defined in the
		literature as a referral to a
		nephrologist less than
		three months prior to
		initiating KRT. <sup>1,10</sup>
Income quintile	5 (high)	Derived variable in
	4	CORR, derived from
	3 (ref)	patient's postal code to
	2	estimate patient level
	1 (low)	household income based
		on neighbourhood
		income levels. <sup>24</sup>

# **Chapter 4: Results**

## **4.1 Baseline Characteristics**

At baseline, there were 355 HHD and 11,329 PD patients. Within 90 days of KRT initiation, 525 in-center HD patients transitioned to HHD and 3,558 transitioned to PD. After accounting for the exclusion criteria (see appendix 2 for detailed flowchart) and removal of missing data for the variables income (n=366), race (n=482), BMI (n=801), and late nephrology referral (n= 446), the final cohort consisted of 12,708 patients treated with PD and 715 patients treated with HHD for analysis.

Baseline characteristics of the participants are described according to home modality in table 4. In our study, patients treated with HHD were younger (median age of 52, interquartile range (IQR) 47-62 vs. median age of 62 years, IQR 52-72 for PD), with more males (67.1% HHD vs. 61.4% PD), more patients belonging to the majority racial group (75.2% for HHD vs. 66.3% for PD) and more patients belonging to a high-income quintile (22.0% for HHD vs. 15.2% for PD). Patients using HHD were more likely to be obese at baseline (BMI  $\geq$ 30) (40.0% vs. 29.0% for patients using PD). The most common cause of KF was diabetes for both PD (39.3%) and HHD (29.0%). Glomerulonephritis and autoimmune diseases were another leading cause of KF for patients on HHD (22.5%). Baseline comorbidities were mainly higher in patients treated with PD with 23% having coronary artery disease (14.6% for HHD), 13.1% having congestive heart failure (10.5% for HHD), 10.2% having cerebrovascular disease (6.6% for HHD), 11.8% having peripheral vascular disease (8.4% for HHD), and 7.1% having chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (4.8% for HHD). Patients using HHD had a higher prevalence of prior malignancy at 14% (compared to 10.1% for PD). The majority of the cohort was hypertensive with 85.8% of patients using HHD, and 84.9% of patients using PD reporting this comorbidity, respectively. For those patients who initiated with HHD, 51.8% initiated with an AV fistula or graft and 48.2% initiated with a CV line.

# 4.2 Objective One

# 4.2.1 Hospitalization Rate and Days in Hospital

Overall, 10,112 patients (75.3%) experienced one or more hospitalization during the follow-up period (12,464,485 total person-days at risk). Patients receiving HHD spent a median of five cumulative days in the hospital (interquartile range (IQR): 0-14) and patients receiving PD spent a median of 10 cumulative days in the hospital (IQR:1-29). Crude rates of admission and cumulative days in hospital for each modality divided by the total time at risk, as well as the corresponding multivariable-adjusted incident rate ratios (IRRs), are reported in table 5. Of the 30,107 hospital admissions, 28,877 (95.9%) occurred in patients receiving PD, while 1230 (4.1%) occurred in patients receiving HHD. Overall, those using HHD experienced a lower crude hospitalization rate of 1.85 per 1000 patient-days compared to a rate of 2.44 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.77, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.70-0.84). Patients on HHD spent 15.07 days per 1000 patient-days in the hospital compared to 26.15 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.75, 95% CI 0.52-1.08).

# 4.2.2 Time to First Hospitalization

Patients using HHD had a longer time between the initiation of home dialysis and their first hospitalization (table 5). The median follow-up time to the first hospitalization was 535 days (1.47 years) for patients using HHD compared to 414 days (1.13 years) for patients using PD. In the presence of the competing risks of death and transplant (n= 333), compared to those using PD, patients using HHD had an adjusted subdistribution hazard ratio (SHR) of 0.84 (95% CI 0.77-0.93) for experiencing a hospitalization event.

# 4.2.3 Interaction with Sex

Interaction terms for sex were not statistically significant for the hospitalization rate outcome (p=0.097), the days in hospital outcome (p=0.342), or the time to first hospitalization outcome (p=0.365). Crude rates of admission and cumulative days in hospital for each modality divided by the total time at risk, as well as the corresponding IRRs stratified by sex are reported in table 6. For females, the admission rate was 2.18 per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 2.44 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR=

0.88, 95% CI 0.74-1.04) and 20.47 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 26.84 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.94, 95% CI 0.54-1.63). For males, the admission rate was 1.72 per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 2.44 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.72 95% CI 0.64-0.81) and 12.89 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 25.68 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 25.68 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 25.68 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 25.68 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 25.68 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.67, 95% CI 0.44-1.00).

Similar findings were present in the time to first hospitalization outcome. Females using HHD had a median follow up time to the first hospitalization of 445 days (1.22 years) compared to a median follow up time of 414 days (1.13 years) for PD. In the presence of the competing risks (n=109), compared to PD, female patients using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 0.92 (95% CI 0.77-1.10) for experiencing a first hospitalization event. Males using HHD had a median follow up time to first hospitalization of 560 days (1.53 years) compared to a median follow up time of 414 days (1.13 years) for PD. In the presence of the competing risks (n=224), compared to PD, male patients using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 0.80 (95% CI 0.72-0.90) for experiencing a hospitalization event.

## 4.2.4 Interaction with Race

Interaction terms for race were not significant in the hospitalization rate model (p=0.135), or the time to first hospitalization model (p=0.529) but were significant in the model assessing days in hospital (p <0.001). For the racial minority group, the hospital admission rate was 1.43 per 1000 patient-days for patients using HHD compared to 2.24 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.65, 95% CI 0.53-0.81) and 11.20 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 22.82 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.42, 95% CI 0.30-0.59) (table 7). For the racial majority group, the hospital admission rate was 2.02 per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 2.55 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.80 95% CI 0.72-0.89) and 16.57 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.95 days in hospital per 1000 patient-days for (IRR= 0.89, 95% CI 0.58-1.38).

Findings were consistent in the time to first hospitalization model. Those in the racial minority group using HHD had a median follow up time to the first hospitalization of 634 days (1.74 years) compared to 462 days (1.27 years) for PD. In the presence of the competing risks (n=84), compared to PD, patients in the racial minority group using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 0.79 (95% CI 0.66-0.96) for experiencing a hospitalization event. Those in the racial majority group using HHD had a median follow up time to the first hospitalization 500 days (1.37 years) compared to 390 days (1.07 years) for PD. In the presence of the competing risks (n=249), compared to PD, patients belonging to the racial majority group using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 0.85 (95% CI 0.76-0.95) for experiencing a hospitalization event.

# 4.3 Objective Two

Interaction terms for era were not significant in the hospitalization rate model (p=0.610), the days in hospital model (p=0.893) or the time to first hospitalization model (p=0.475). Hospitalization events varied across eras (table 5). In the first era, the admission rate was 1.99 per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 2.34 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.95, 95% CI 0.78-1.15) and 19.69 days per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 27.33 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.91, 95% CI 0.63-1.32). In the second era, the admission rate was 1.72 per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 2.58 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.66, 95% CI 0.57-0.76) and 12.79 days per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 26.23 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.58, 95% CI 0.37-0.92). In the third era, the admission rate was 1.93 per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 2.40 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.80, 95% CI 0.67-0.95) and 13.15 days per 1000 patient-days for HHD compared to 24.54 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.81, 95% CI 0.43-1.53).

In the first era, the median follow-up time to the first hospitalization was 541 days (1.48 years) for patients using HHD compared to 386 days (1.06 years) for patients using PD (table 5). In the presence of the competing risks (n=102), compared to patients using PD, patients using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 0.85 (95% CI 0.71-1.02) for experiencing a hospitalization event. In the second era, the median follow-up time to the first

hospitalization was 591 days (1.62 years) for patients using HHD and 429 days (1.18 years) for patients using PD. In the presence of the competing risks (n=117), compared to PD, patients using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 0.74 (95% CI 0.64-0.85) for experiencing a hospitalization event. In the third era, the median follow-up time to the first hospitalization was 437 days (1.20 years) for patients using HHD and 427 days (1.17 years) for patients using PD. In the presence of the competing risks (n=114), compared to those using PD, patients using HHD had an adjusted hazard of 1.00 (95% CI 0.85-1.19) for experiencing a hospitalization event.

# 4.4 Sensitivity Analyses

#### 4.4.1 Alternate Exposure Definitions

Analyses were repeated restricting the exposure to those who initiated home dialysis within 180 days of KRT initiation and 365 days of KRT initiation, respectively. These exposure definitions resulted in consistent findings to the primary analysis exposure definition (home dialysis use by 90 days of KRT initiation) and can be found in tables 8 and 9. The sample size increased with each exposure definition. The 180-day definition had a final sample size of 14,039 patients using PD and 1,058 patients using HHD. The 365-day definition had a final sample size of 15,012 patients using PD and 1,384 patients using HHD.

#### 4.4.2 Dialysis Access

Patients receiving HHD who initiated dialysis using a CV line had higher hospitalization rates and longer hospital stays than those who initiated dialysis with a fistula or graft (table 10). For patients using HHD with a CV line, the admission rate was 2.05 per 1000 patient-days compared to 2.44 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.85, 95% CI 0.74-0.97) and 19.29 days per 1000 patient-days compared to 26.13 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 1.01, 95% CI 0.61-1.67). For patients using HHD with a fistula or graft the admission rate was 1.69 per 1000 patient-days compared to 2.44 per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.70, 95% CI 0.61-0.79) and 12.08 days per 1000 patient-days compared to 26.13 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.70, 95% CI 0.61-0.79) and 12.08 days per 1000 patient-days compared to 26.13 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.70, 95% CI 0.61-0.79) and 12.08 days per 1000 patient-days compared to 26.13 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.70, 95% CI 0.61-0.79) and 12.08 days per 1000 patient-days compared to 26.13 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.70, 95% CI 0.61-0.79) and 12.08 days per 1000 patient-days compared to 26.13 days per 1000 patient-days for PD (IRR= 0.55, 95% CI 0.32-0.93).

4.4.3 Addition of eGFR to Adjusted Models

Adding eGFR to our adjusted models did not result in any significant change in effect size (data not shown).

# 4.4 Result Tables

Characteristic <sup>a</sup> Home Dialysis				Missing Data	
	PD (n= 14,643)	HHD (n= 875)			
Age, median years (IQR)	62 (52-72)	52 (47-62)	< 0.001	0	
Sex, male	8990 (61.4)	587 (67.1)	0.001	0	
Race, racial majority	9384 (66.3)	637 (75.2)	< 0.001	523 (3.4)	
group					
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )			< 0.001	936 (6.0)	
≤18.5	344 (2.5)	18 (2.3)			
18.5-24.9	4858 (35.2)	225 (28.6)			
25-29.9	4592 (33.3)	229 (29.1)			
≥30	4002 (29.0)	314 (40.0)			
Cause of KF			< 0.001	0	
Diabetes	5756 (39.3)	254 (29.0)			
Glomerulonephritis/	2509 (17.1)	197 (22.5)			
autoimmune diseases					
Renovascular diseases	2480 (16.9)	90 (10.3)			
Congenital/hereditary/	1192 (8.1)	145 (16.6)			
polycystic kidney					
disease					
Other/unknown	2706 (18.5)	189 (21.6)			
Comorbidities					
Coronary artery disease	3214 (23.0)	124 (14.6)	< 0.001	714 (4.6)	
Congestive heart failure	1800 (13.1)	87 (10.4)	0.023	955 (6.2)	
Cerebrovascular	1405 (10.2)	56 (6.6)	0.001	861 (5.6)	
disease					
Peripheral vascular	1627 (11.8)	71 (8.4)	0.003	914 (5.9)	
disease					
Chronic obstructive	969 (7.1)	40 (4.8)	0.012	959 (6.2)	
lung disease					
Prior malignancy	1377 (10.1)	115 (14.0)	< 0.001	1108 (7.1)	
Hypertension	11818 (84.9)	729 (85.8)	0.511	754 (4.9)	
Era			< 0.001	0	
2005-2009	4514 (30.8)	166 (19.0)			
2010-2014	4902 (33.5)	396 (45.3)			
2015-2018	5227 (35.7)	313 (35.8)			
Late nephrology referral	1476 (10.5)	105 (12.6)	0.049	594 (3.8)	
(<3 months)					
Income quintile			< 0.001	366 (2.4)	
5 (high)	2177 (15.2)	187 (22.0)			
4	2448 (17.1)	185 (21.8)			
3	2901 (20.3)	150 (17.7)			
2	3281 (22.9)	179 (21.1)			

**Table 4.** Baseline characteristics of the study population stratified by home modality

Characteristic <sup>a</sup>	Home D	Dialysis	Р	Missing Data
	PD (n= 14,643)	HHD (n= 875)		
1 (low)	3495 (24.4)	149 (17.5)		
eGFR (ml/min), median	8.2 (6.3-10.6)	7.5 (5.8-10.1)	< 0.001	489 (3.2)
(IQR) <sup>b</sup>				
Dialysis access			< 0.001	140 (0.9)
Central venous line		410 (48.2)		
Arteriovenous		441 (51.8)		
fistula or graft				
PD catheter	14527 (100)			

<sup>a</sup>Results are presented as count (percentage) unless specified.

<sup>b</sup>eGFR at kidney replacement therapy initiation.

Abbreviations: IQR, Interquartile range; BMI, body mass index; KF, kidney failure; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

	Entire C	ohort (n=13,423)	Era 2005-2009Era 2010-2014Era 2015-2018(n=3,772)(n=4,660)(n=4,991)		09 Era 2010-2014 (n=4,660)		a 2015-2018 (n=4,991)	
	Crude Rate*	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)
Admission <sup>a,b</sup>								
PD	2.44	1.00 (ref)	2.34	1.00 (ref)	2.58	1.00 (ref)	2.40	1.00 (ref)
HHD	1.85	0.77 (0.70-0.84)	1.99	0.95 (0.78-1.15)	1.72	0.66 (0.57-0.76)	1.93	0.80 (0.67-0.95)
Days in hospital <sup>a,c</sup>								
PD	26.15	1.00 (ref)	27.23	1.00 (ref)	26.23	1.00 (ref)	24.54	1.00 (ref)
HHD	15.07	0.75 (0.52-1.08)	19.69	0.91 (0.63-1.32)	12.79	0.58 (0.37-0.92)	13.15	0.81 (0.43-1.53)
	SH	R (95% CI)	SH	IR (95% CI)	SH	IR (95% CI)	SH	R (95% CI)
Time to first hospitalization	1 <sup>a,d</sup>							
PD		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	
HHD	0.84	4 (0.77-0.93) 0.85 (0.71-1.02) 0.74 (0.64-0.85)		4 (0.64-0.85)	4-0.85) 1.00 (0.85-1.19)			

Table 5. Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization comparing PD to HHD in the entire cohort and across eras

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, race, body mass index, kidney failure cause, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prior malignancy, hypertension, era of dialysis initiation, late nephrology referral, and income quintile.

Abbreviations: PD, peritoneal dialysis; HHD, home hemodialysis; IRR, incident rate ratio; SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio.

<sup>b</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.610

<sup>c</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.893

<sup>d</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.475

	Female	e (n=5,114)	Male	(n=8,309)
	<b>Crude Rate*</b>	IRR (95% CI)	<b>Crude Rate</b>	IRR (95% CI)
Admission <sup>a,b</sup>				
PD	2.44	1.00 (ref)	2.44	1.00 (ref)
HHD	2.18	0.88 (0.74-1.04)	1.72	0.72 (0.64-0.81)
Days in hospital <sup>a,c</sup>				
PD	26.84	1.00 (ref)	25.68	1.00 (ref)
HHD	20.47	0.94 (0.54-1.63)	12.89	0.67 (0.44-1.00)
	SHR	(95% CI)	SHR (95% CI)	
Time to first				
hospitalization <sup>a,d</sup>				
PD	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	
HHD	0.92 (	0.77-1.10)	0.80 (0.72-0.90)	

Table 6. Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization comparing PD to HHD stratified by sex

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, race, body mass index, kidney failure cause, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prior malignancy, hypertension, era of dialysis initiation, late nephrology referral, and income quintile.

Abbreviations: PD, peritoneal dialysis; HHD, home hemodialysis; IRR, incident rate ratio; SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio.

<sup>b</sup>p value for sex interaction= 0.097

<sup>c</sup>p value for sex interaction= 0.342

 $^{d}$ p value for sex interaction= 0.365

	Racial Min	ority (n=4,463)	Racial Majority (n=8,960)			
	Crude Rate*	IRR (95% CI)	<b>Crude Rate</b>	IRR (95% CI)		
Admission <sup>a,b</sup>						
PD	2.24	1.00 (ref)	2.55	1.00 (ref)		
HHD 1.43		0.65 (0.53-0.81)	2.02	0.80 (0.72-0.89)		
Days in hospital <sup>a,c</sup>						
PD	22.82	1.00 (ref)	27.95	1.00 (ref)		
HHD	11.20	0.42 (0.30-0.59)	16.57	0.89 (0.58-1.38)		
	SHR	(95% CI)	SHR (95% CI)			
Time to first						
hospitalization <sup>a,d</sup>						
PD	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)			
HHD	0.79 (	0.79 (0.66-0.96)		0.85 (0.76-0.95)		

Table 7. Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization comparing PD to HHD stratified by race

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, body mass index, kidney failure cause, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prior malignancy, hypertension, era of dialysis initiation, late nephrology referral, and income quintile.

Abbreviations: PD, peritoneal dialysis; HHD, home hemodialysis; IRR, incident rate ratio; SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio.

<sup>b</sup>p value for race interaction= 0.135

<sup>c</sup>p value for race interaction= <0.001

 $^{d}$ p value for race interaction= 0.529

	Entire Cohort (n=15,097)		Era 2005-2009 (n=4,195)		Era 2010-2014 (n=5,287)		Era 2015-2018 (n=5,615)	
	Crude Rate*	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)
Admission <sup>a,b</sup>								
PD	2.48	1.00 (ref)	2.39	1.00 (ref)	2.61	1.00 (ref)	2.41	1.00 (ref)
HHD	1.89	0.77 (0.70-0.84)	1.94	0.85 (0.72-1.01)	1.78	0.68 (0.60-0.78)	2.00	0.81 (0.70-0.95)
Days in hospital <sup>a,c</sup>								
PD	26.58	1.00 (ref)	27.86	1.00 (ref)	26.64	1.00 (ref)	24.74	1.00 (ref)
HHD	15.26	0.68 (0.51-0.90)	18.15	0.71 (0.51-0.98)	13.47	0.56 (0.38-0.82)	14.55	0.80 (0.51-1.23)
	SHR (95% CI)		<b>SHR (95% CI)</b>		SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)	
Time to first								
hospitalization	n <sup>a,d</sup>							
PD	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	
HHD	0.8	4 (0.77-0.91)	0.8	1 (0.69-0.95)	0.76 (0.67-0.87)		0.97 (0.84-1.12)	

Table 8. Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization comparing PD to HHD using 180-day exposure definition

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, race, body mass index, kidney failure cause, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prior malignancy, hypertension, era of dialysis initiation, late nephrology referral, and income quintile.

Abbreviations: PD, peritoneal dialysis; HHD, home hemodialysis; IRR, incident rate ratio; SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio.

<sup>b</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.658

<sup>c</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.447

 $^{d}$ p value for era interaction= 0.981

	Entire Cohort (n=16,396)		Era 2005-2009 (n=4,549)		Era 2010-2014 (n=5,763)		Era 2015-2018 (n=6,084)	
	Crude Rate*	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)	Crude Rate	IRR (95% CI)
Admission <sup>a,b</sup>								
PD	2.49	1.00 (ref)	2.41	1.00 (ref)	2.62	1.00 (ref)	2.43	1.00 (ref)
HHD	1.95	0.79 (0.73-0.86)	2.04	0.89 (0.77-1.04)	1.86	0.72 (0.64-0.82)	1.98	0.80 (0.69-0.93)
Days in hospital <sup>a,c</sup>								
PD	26.80	1.00 (ref)	28.19	1.00 (ref)	26.75	1.00 (ref)	24.92	1.00 (ref)
HHD	15.45	0.68 (0.53-0.87)	17.84	0.66 (0.50-0.89)	14.14	0.61 (0.44-0.85)	14.46	0.77 (0.52-1.15)
	SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)	
Time to first								
hospitalization	n <sup>a,d</sup>							
PD	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	
HHD	0.87 (0.81-0.94)		0.85 (0.73-0.99)		0.81 (0.72-0.91)		0.97 (0.85-1.12)	

Table 9. Rate of admission, days in hospital, and time to hospitalization comparing PD to HHD using 365-day exposure definition

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, race, body mass index, kidney failure cause, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prior malignancy, hypertension, era of dialysis initiation, late nephrology referral, and income quintile.

Abbreviations: PD, peritoneal dialysis; HHD, home hemodialysis; IRR, incident rate ratio; SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio.

<sup>b</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.853

<sup>c</sup>p value for era interaction= 0.895

 $^{d}$ p value for era interaction= 0.992

Fable 10. Rate of admission, days in hospital between those initiated HHD with a graft or fistula compared to those who initiated	ed
IHD with a CV line	

	AV Graft or Fistula		CV Line		
	Crude Rate*	IRR (95% CI)	<b>Crude Rate</b>	IRR (95% CI)	
<b>Admission</b> <sup>a</sup>					
PD	2.44	1.00 (ref)	2.44	1.00 (ref)	
HHD	1.69	0.70 (0.61-0.79)	2.05	0.85 (0.74-0.97)	
Days in hospital <sup>a</sup>					
PD	26.13	1.00 (ref)	26.13	1.00 (ref)	
HHD	12.08	0.55 (0.32-0.93)	19.29	1.01 (0.61-1.67)	

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, race, body mass index, kidney failure cause, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prior malignancy, hypertension, era of dialysis initiation, late nephrology referral, and income quintile.

Abbreviations: HHD, home hemodialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis; AV, arteriovenous; CV, central venous; IRR, incident rate ratio.

# **Chapter 5: Discussion**

# **5.1 Overview of Primary Results**

In this national Canadian retrospective cohort study, we found that patients receiving HHD had decreased hospitalization rates and a longer time to the first hospitalization compared to patients receiving PD. This finding is consistent with our hypothesis and previous literature comparing hospitalization outcomes between patients treated with PD or HHD.<sup>61,71,75,85</sup>

Our results are comparable to a Swedish registry study which found that patients treated with HHD had an annual admission rate of 1.7 compared to 2.8 for PD and 12.1 days in hospital per year compared to 20.3 days in hospital per year for PD.<sup>71</sup> The similarity of our results could be contributed to both studies using a national registry with large sample sizes that almost completely captured the entire dialysis population of interest. Patients in the Swedish registry study had a shorter median time to first hospitalization than our study, although competing risks were not accounted for in their study, which could have introduced bias into the results.

Cumulative days in hospital was not statistically significant between HHD and PD for the entire cohort in our study using the primary definition (90 days). It is possible that this is due to wider confidence intervals as a result of the use of robust standard errors. The days in hospital models were significantly different between those using HHD and PD in both the 180-day and 365-day definitions, potentially due to increased statistical power due to larger sample sizes. In our study, patients using PD spent double the median number of days in hospital compared to HHD, which could contribute to greater healthcare costs for patients treated with PD. Shorter hospital stays found in patients treated with HHD may have the potential to reduce healthcare costs related to patient admissions.

A US study by Kumar et al. found no statistically significant difference in risk of hospital admission (p=0.9) or length of stay (p=0.8) between patients using HHD or PD.<sup>85</sup> When looking at the crude rates, patients using HHD experienced 0.68 admissions PPY and 3.3

days PPY compared to 0.76 admissions PPY and 5.6 days PPY in the PD group. This study was limited by a small sample size (n= 86), which likely contributed to the statistical insignificance of the findings. Further, this study only looked at patients at one dialysis centre and only included patients using a specific type of HHD machine, which may have limited the generalizability of the findings. In another American study, patients using HHD had a 0.73 times lower hazard of hospital admission (95% CI 0.67-0.79) compared to patients using PD.<sup>75</sup> One additional US study found that patients using HHD had a 0.92 times lower hazard of hospital admission (95% CI 0.89-0.95) compared to patients using PD.<sup>61</sup> Our findings fall in between these two studies with patients treated with HHD having a 0.84 times lower hazard (95% CI 0.77-0.93) of hospital admission compared to patients treated with PD, indicating consistency of our findings with the literature and further validating that HHD is associated with improved hospitalization outcomes.

Despite the similarity of our findings with prior studies, there are differences across these studies that can lead to variations in results. Firstly, the majority of previous studies discussed above that compared hospitalization outcomes used propensity score matching to account for confounding.<sup>61,71,75</sup> Our study used traditional multivariable-adjusted models based on the evidence that propensity score matching can introduce bias in the presence of censoring<sup>137</sup> and has the disadvantage of reducing sample size by excluding participants who cannot be matched. For example, in the study by Suri et al., only 81% of patients using HHD could be matched to patients using PD,<sup>75</sup> which therefore excluded patients using HHD that would have otherwise been included in analysis and potentially introduced bias. Therefore, it is possible that slight differences in our findings could be due differences in matched cohorts compared to our adjusted models even though the covariables used were comparable.

There is no standard HHD definition used in the literature. Differences in how HHD was defined across studies could contribute to small discrepancies in the results due to different HHD prescriptions. For example, three of the cited studies only included those who completed daily HHD,<sup>61,75,85</sup> an only one provided a definition (defined in the study

4-5 days/week, 1.5–4.5 h/day).<sup>75</sup> In our study we included anyone who performed hemodialysis in the home, and therefore there may be differences in our HHD population that has a greater mix of HHD prescriptions compared to the others that could produce slightly different results. Our study was also the first Canadian study to compare hospitalizations in the home dialysis population and there are likely differences in patient characteristics (age, education, income, healthcare access) between the Canadian population and the American and Swedish populations cited that could produce varying results.

Nonetheless, our findings of reduced hospitalization events in patients receiving HHD adds to the growing body of literature that HHD is associated with better patient outcomes compared to other modalities. The primary rationale for this is that HHD generally involves a more intensive dialysis prescription, and therefore greater waste and fluid removal,<sup>88</sup> which can potentially result in improved phosphate control,<sup>8</sup> improved cardiovascular health,<sup>143</sup> reduced hypertension,<sup>87,88</sup> reduced anemia, and improved nutritional status.<sup>89,90</sup> Another potential mechanism is that HHD potentially removes the two-day interdialytic break that occurs in patients receiving in-center HD, which has been found to be followed by increased rates of hospitalization.<sup>91</sup> Overall, our study validates existing work on the topic while also being the first to investigate these outcomes in the Canadian home dialysis population.

# 5.2 The Effect of Sex on the Association of Home Dialysis and Hospitalization

Our results suggest that males are less likely to be hospitalized compared to females. Although the interaction for sex did not meet statistical significance, stratification showed that males are experiencing fewer hospitalization events than females, which is clinically significant. There were more male patients using HHD than female patients using HHD in our study, which is consistent with previous studies.<sup>71,75</sup> An interesting finding is that there was no difference in the crude hospitalization rate between sexes using PD, and very little difference for days in hospital; however, in those using HHD, males had both significantly lower crude hospitalization rate and days in hospital compared to females. It is not well known why differences in hospitalization outcomes between sex are most

dramatic in HHD and there is little research exploring sex differences to compare our findings to. It is known that being female is associated with higher hospitalization rates than males,<sup>68,107</sup> but research is lacking on the "why". Females are less likely to utilize PD and HHD than males,<sup>38</sup> which means there could be potential barriers females are facing to home dialysis access.

It is also plausible that the reason for such differences in hospitalization outcomes between sexes in our study is due to socioeconomic factors such as education level, access to care, social supports, and appropriate housing conditions. We were unable to assess for these factors in our study due to a lack of collection of these variables. A recent study comparing sex differences in mortality for patients using dialysis found that more males were married (72% of males vs. 47% of females) and employed (53% of males vs 39% of females) while more females were widowed (26% of females vs 7% of males) and had less than high school education (26% of females vs 18% of males).<sup>144</sup> As a result. females may lack the necessary supports to be successful with HHD, such as a caregiver to provide both assistance and support and therefore are experiencing more hospitalization events. Females often are the ones that provide care in the event of a chronic illness in the family.<sup>145</sup> A study exploring caregiver burden among patients using HD found that 65.2% of patients were male, while 56.1% of caregivers were female.<sup>146</sup> If females are often the ones in the caregiving role, it is possible when they become the patient they may either lack a caregiver or their caregiver (if male) may be quicker to experience caregiver burnout, which may contribute to HHD complications resulting in a hospitalization. There remains a lack of research on sex differences in medical research,<sup>37,147,148</sup> and dialysis research is no exception. It is known that sex differences exist in both the utilization and outcomes of dialysis, but future research must focus on exploring why these differences exist and what barriers females are facing to successful dialysis treatment and eventual transplant.

# 5.3 The Effect of Race on the Association of Home Dialysis and Hospitalization

In our study, racial minorities experienced significantly less days spent in hospital compared to those in the racial majority group. This finding was most profound in racial

minorities using HHD. The difference was less pronounced in the time to first hospitalization analysis, although, racial minorities still had a lower hazard of admission and less competing events than those belonging to the racial majority group. Our findings are consistent with the literature where racial minority groups have been found to have less hospitalizations and improved survival compared to White patients.<sup>67,68,109,110</sup>

A 2014 study by Yan et al. assessing differences in hospitalizations across racial and ethnic groups receiving in-center HD found that those patients identifying as Hispanic had the lowest rates of hospital admission (adjusted risk ratio (aRR)= 0.89, 95% CI 0.88-0.90) and days in hospital (aRR= 0.91, 95% CI 0.90-0.93), followed by Black patients for both hospital admission (aRR= 0.95, 95% CI 0.94-0.96) and days in hospital (aRR= 1.01, 95% CI 0.99-1.02) compared to White patients. This is a less pronounced rate ratio than our findings; however, this study was only looking at in-center HD, was limited by a short follow up time (median of one year follow up), and stratifying by multiple racial groups may have decreased statistical power. They also found that this relationship between race and hospitalizations was modified by age. In the youngest and oldest age groups, Black patients had the greatest hospitalization outcomes. It is plausible that this paradox of better outcomes for racial minorities is modified by different characteristics across age groups such as socioeconomic factors like employment status, living conditions, and access to health care.

Racial minorities are less likely to receive a kidney transplant compared to White patients.<sup>67</sup> As a result, it is possible that racial minorities on dialysis also contain healthier patients compared to White patients, because the healthiest White patients have been transplanted leaving behind a sicker, White dialysis population. Transplant was accounted for as a competing risk in our time to first hospitalization model, which should have reduced this bias; however, in other models (hospitalization rate, and days in hospital) it was not and therefore could have affected our findings. Racial minorities were much less likely to experience a competing risk in our study compared to those belonging to the racial minority group.

Alternatively, it is known that CKD is more prevalent in racial minority groups and progresses to KF faster,<sup>19</sup> therefore another important consideration is that the sickest patients in the racial minority group may have died before they received appropriate care and initiated dialysis, resulting in a survival bias. Another potential explanation for the improved outcomes in racial minority groups is the higher rate of dialysis discontinuation in White patients compared to those belonging to other racial groups.<sup>149</sup> When comparing survival after hospitalization between racial groups, Agunbiade et al. found that when discontinuation of dialysis was accounted for in analyses, the survival differences between races was greatly attenuated.

Our findings may also be contributed to societal factors such as SES due to ongoing racism rather than biological mechanisms.<sup>110</sup> Shen et al. determined that SES factors such as measures of poverty, education, employment, and segregation contributed to why racial minorities are less likely to initiate HHD than White patients.<sup>66</sup> Unfortunately, our study had limited information on SES and could not assess these factors.

There are potential biological mechanisms that may have also contributed to our findings. It has been proposed that differences in nutritional and dietary factors across racial groups may contribute to differences in health outcomes.<sup>111,112</sup> Black patients have been found to have higher levels of pre-dialysis serum albumin, which can indicate better health status.<sup>111</sup> They have also been found to have higher consumption of energy and fat, which may be indicative of better nutritional status prior to dialysis initiation. However, it is also important to recognize that both race and ethnicity are social and political constructs<sup>150</sup> and using this terminology to assess for biological differences in health outcomes may not be appropriate or correct.<sup>151</sup> Additionally, as race was physician identified in this study, these results should be interpreted with caution. Future research should focus on correctly capturing and interpreting race-based data to better understand the relationship between race and health outcomes patients on dialysis.

#### 5.4 The Effect of Era on the Association of Home Dialysis and Hospitalization

Hospitalization outcomes varied across the three eras in our study, although patients receiving PD consistently experienced greater hospitalization events than those receiving HHD. We had initially hypothesized that we would see an increase in hospitalization events in more modern eras as older patients with a higher comorbidity burden and frailty are being placed on home modalities, specifically HHD. We also suspected that hospitalization differences between HHD and PD would be decreased in modern eras due to improvements in home dialysis technology.

Contrary to our hypothesis, hospitalization outcomes did not consistently increase in a linear fashion across eras. For patients using PD, the number of crude cumulative days in hospital decreased over time, although this is not a trend that was observed in the hospitalization rate model or in patients using HHD. PD has been the primary home modality for many years and over the past several years there has been significant research to develop evidence-based clinical practice guidelines that have addressed access issues and focused on preventing and managing infection, which has resulted in improved quality of PD.<sup>152</sup> This could be the reason why we found improved or consistent hospitalization outcomes in patients receiving PD over time.

We found that the earliest era (2005-2009) had the highest crude rate of hospitalization and days in hospital for patients using HHD although this was not statistically significant. This era had the smallest difference in hospitalizations between PD and HHD. There are a few potential reasons for this finding. First, HHD technology was likely not as advanced at this time, with patients using HHD potentially experiencing more complications resulting in the need to be hospitalized. Many physicians may have not been as familiar with HHD training yet and patients may not have received as much education prior to HHD initiation as they would have in more modern eras, which could have resulted in more access issues requiring hospitalization. Further, at this time there was likely less emphasis on available nursing support to help maintain patients at home.

In the middle era (2010-2014), we saw the largest difference in hospitalizations between PD and HHD, with patients using HHD having substantially less admissions and days in hospital than in the first era. This is potentially reflecting that HHD was still mainly reserved for the healthiest patients at this time. Patients using PD also had a higher admission rate in this era compared to the first, which could be reflecting more patients beginning to prefer a home modality in the face of easing criteria for selection to PD. In Ontario, a home first dialysis initiative was launched in 2012 which led to a 25% increase in PD prevalence.<sup>153</sup>

Today, many patients using home dialysis have access to 24-hour on-call nursing support to assist with any issues and help solve problems at home.<sup>154</sup> There have also been advancements in HHD technology to make it more user friendly and both patients and physicians may be better at troubleshooting and managing small problems at home due to extensive HHD training prior to initiation.<sup>155</sup> Virtual care treatment and management options may have also contributed to less hospital admissions in the more modern eras as telemedicine and remote patient monitoring systems have become more common.<sup>156–160</sup> These are potential reasons contributing to why patients using HHD in the most modern era (2015-2018) had less hospitalization events than those in the earliest. Despite statistical insignificance, this is a clinically relevant finding as it shows that patients using HHD may be having better outcomes compared to previous historical eras.

The most modern era also likely saw a shift in the HHD dialysis population when older and sicker patients began utilizing this treatment more, which is likely the reasoning for the smaller difference in hospitalizations between HHD and PD at this time. Other studies have reported that patients initiating HHD in more modern times are older, with more comorbidities than those who initiated in the past.<sup>74</sup> Another important point of consideration is that the most modern era may have had the shortest follow up time in our study. Considering we found that patients using HHD had a longer time to their first hospitalization than PD, it is possible that if we had followed the modern era longer, we would have captured more HHD hospitalizations and potentially seen less of a difference in hospitalizations between the two modalities.

Few other studies have looked at trends across eras and those that did were often mortality focused. A recent study comparing survival between patients using either PD or HHD across eras found that mortality differences attenuated over time.<sup>10</sup> A study completed by Perl et al. in 2017 investigating trends in patient survival in patients using HHD in Canada found no differences in survival across eras.<sup>74</sup> However, the most modern era in this study was 2008-2012 and therefore it is possible that they did not capture the shift in patient characteristics that has occurred in patients initiating HHD in more modern times. One study that did look at hospitalization differences between HHD and in-center HD in the United States found no statistical difference in hospitalization rates across two eras (2006-2007, 2008-2009); however, the follow up time was short and would likely not have shown an era effect over this limited time period.<sup>83</sup> Additionally, using in-center HD as the comparative group may have resulted in bias due to patient demographic differences between these two groups. It appears we are the first to study hospitalization differences between home dialysis modalities across eras in depth. We believe our findings regarding hospitalizations differences across eras are likely due to the known change in characteristics (older and sicker) of patients choosing HHD in more modern times as well as the lessening of HHD criteria over time and advancements in home dialysis technology; however, future studies should confirm these findings.

# 5.5 Sensitivity Analyses

5.5.1 The Effect of HHD Access on Home Dialysis and Hospitalization As expected, patients that initiated HHD with a CV line, had much higher hospitalization rates and days in hospital than those who initiated with an AV fistula or graft. There is literature supporting that PD has a survival advantage over HD in the initial one to two years after dialysis initiation.<sup>89,161,162</sup> Perl et al. suggested this relationship is modified based on HD vascular access.<sup>163</sup> In a CORR registry study published in 2011, Perl et al. identified that those who began HD with a catheter had significantly higher one-year mortality compared to PD; however, those who initiated HD with an AV fistula or graft had similar one-year mortality to PD.<sup>163</sup> Our findings are therefore similar to Perl et al. when applied to hospitalization outcomes. This is an important contribution to the literature as there is potential to reduce the number of hospitalizations patients experience if they begin their dialysis with a fistula or graft rather than a CV line, which is associated with higher rates of both infection and mortality.<sup>164</sup>

#### 5.5.2 Different Exposure Definition Assessment

Re-running the analyses with 180-day and 365-day exposure definitions resulted in similar results to the primary 90-day exposure definition. In the days in hospital model, the effect was significant for both the 180-day (IRR= 0.68, 95% CI 0.51-0.90) and 365-day (IRR= 0.68, 95% CI 0.53-0.87) compared to the primary 90-day definition which was not statistically significant (IRR= 0.75, 95% CI 0.52-1.08). This could be contributed to the higher risk period of hospitalization events when dialysis is newly initiated; however, this was not observed for the hospitalization rate, which was lower for the 90-day and 180-day definitions compared to the 365-day definition. It is possible that people hospitalized sooner within initiating KRT require more complex care resulting in longer hospital stays compared to those who have been on dialysis longer. When looking at the time to first hospitalization models the 365-day definition had the most competing events, which is expected because as time goes on people are more likely to be transplanted or die.

Assessing different exposure definitions is good practice as there is no consistent definition used in the literature. Restricting the analysis to a short exposure definition could result in missing patients who have not transitioned to home dialysis yet but restricting the analysis to a longer exposure definition risks survivor bias as patients must survive the high risk post-KRT initiation period to be captured. However, as shown in our study, the exposure definition did not greatly alter our findings.

#### 5.6 Limitations and Strengths

Our study has some notable limitations. Firstly, using an administrative database means our study was observational in nature, and our analyses were limited to the data collected. The CORR does not collect information on psychosocial characteristics, and there was limited information regarding SES. As discussed previously, patients may be more inclined to choose a home dialysis option if they have a caregiver to assist them, either

emotionally or physically with their treatment.<sup>65</sup> It is possible that patients who have a caregiver to assist them with home dialysis have different hospitalization outcomes than those who lack caregiver support; however, we were unable account for this in our study as this was not captured in the data. We were also missing data from two key provinces (Quebec and Manitoba), which may have compromised the generalizability of our findings. The variables race and sex were provider identified, which leaves the potential for misclassification bias. Dialysis modality was only assessed at baseline, thus increasing the potential for misclassification errors; however, any modality switches lasting longer than 30 days were censored. Additionally, it is understood that this type of study has potential for survivor bias<sup>165</sup> because patients must have survived up to the point of home dialysis initiation to be included in the study.

Our study only assessed all-cause hospitalizations and therefore is inclusive of hospitalization events that were not attributable to the exposure. Lastly, it is beyond the scope of our study to imply a cause and effect on the relationship between home dialysis and hospitalizations. We cannot say with certainty that there is not residual confounding contributing to patients treated with HHD having lower hospitalization outcomes as it is well known this population tends to be healthier and therefore is already less likely to experience hospitalization events.

Despite these limitations, this thesis has several important strengths. It used a national database with a large sample size that had been previously linked and validated for research. To our knowledge, this is the first national Canadian study comparing hospitalization outcomes in patients using home dialysis with a prespecified era effect assessment and therefore contributes new knowledge to this field of research. The linking of the CORR and the DAD allowed us to control for many covariables. We completed several pre-specified sensitivity analyses to test the robustness of our findings. Survival bias was mitigated in our study by using an early home dialysis definition (within 90 days of KRT), which helped ensure we were capturing those in the high-risk period of adverse outcomes. Additionally, testing our results with two different exposure definitions

(initiation within 180 and 365-days, respectively), also helped ensure our resulted were not biased by survivorship.

### 5.7 Study Implications

Home dialysis use has increased in recent years and is likely to continue to rise as more countries promote a home-first approach. Therefore, it is important to understand differences in clinical outcomes between PD and HHD. The findings from this thesis build on existing research demonstrating that HHD is associated with improved health outcomes when compared to PD. Findings from our study may be used in patient education to help patients make an informed modality selection. Future research should assess cause-specific hospitalizations to provide a more in-depth understandings of hospitalization differences between home modalities. Additionally, future studies must take into consideration the differences between sex and racial groups and dive deeper into the reasons underpinning these differences.

## 5.8 Conclusion

This national Canadian cohort study of incident home dialysis patients found that patients on HHD experienced less hospital admissions, fewer days in hospital, and a longer time to first hospitalization when compared to patients using PD. These findings were most pronounced in male patients and in those belonging to a racial minority group. Although not statistically significant, patients in the most modern era had less hospitalization events than those in earliest era.

## 5.9 Knowledge Translation

This thesis was presented in virtual poster format during the Department of Medicine Research Week at Dalhousie University. This completed thesis will result in two publications. The first will be a manuscript with the major findings of this study, which will be prepared and submitted to relevant peer-reviewed journals. The second will be a review article of hospitalization outcomes in patients using home dialysis that will also be
submitted to relevant peer-reviewed journals. Additionally, findings will be presented at a relevant research conference.

# References

- 1. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group. Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney International Supplements*. 2013;3(1):5-14. doi:10.1038/kisup.2012.77
- Abdel-Kader K, Unruh ML, Weisbord SD. Symptom Burden, Depression, and Quality of Life in Chronic and End-Stage Kidney Disease. *CJASN*. 2009;4(6):1057-1064. doi:10.2215/CJN.00430109
- 3. Daratha KB, Short RA, Corbett CF, et al. Risks of Subsequent Hospitalization and Death in Patients with Kidney Disease. *CJASN*. 2012;7(3):409-416. doi:10.2215/CJN.05070511
- 4. Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu C yuan. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. *N Engl J Med*. 2004;351(13):1296-1305. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa041031
- Kim SJ, Klarenbach S, Lafrance JP, et al. High Risk and High Cost: Focus on Opportunities to Reduce Hospitalizations of Dialysis Patients in Canada. Published online 2016.
- 6. Annual Statistics on Organ Replacement in Canada: Dialysis, Transplantation and Donation, 2010 to 2019. :6.
- 7. CADTH. Dialysis Modalities for the Treatment of End-Stage Kidney Disease: A Health Technology Assessment.; 2017.
- Yeung EK, Polkinghorne KR, Kerr PG. Home and facility haemodialysis patients: a comparison of outcomes in a matched cohort. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2021;36(6):1070-1077. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfaa358
- Vinson AJ, Perl J, Tennankore KK. Survival Comparisons of Home Dialysis Versus In-Center Hemodialysis: A Narrative Review. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2019;6:2054358119861941. doi:10.1177/2054358119861941
- Nadeau-Fredette AC, Tennankore KK, Perl J, Bargman JM, Johnson DW, Chan CT. Home Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis Patient and Technique Survival in Canada. *Kidney Int Rep.* 2020;5(11):1965-1973. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2020.08.020
- Mathew A, McLeggon JA, Mehta N, et al. Mortality and Hospitalizations in Intensive Dialysis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2018;5:2054358117749531. doi:10.1177/2054358117749531

- Bello A, Levin A, Tonelli M, et al. Global Kidney Health Atlas: A report by the International Society of Neprhology on the current state of organization and structures for kidney care across the globe. Published online 2017. Accessed September 13, 2021. https://www.theisn.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/GKDAtlas 2017 FinalVersion-1.pdf
- Living with Reduced Kidney Function. 5th ed. The Kidney Foundation of Canada; 2015. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://kidney.ca/KFOC/media/images/PDFs/3-1-2-Book-One\_Living-withreduced-kidney-function.pdf
- 14. Levin A, Hemmelgarn B, Culleton B, et al. Guidelines for the management of chronic kidney disease. Published online 2008:9.
- Levey AS, Eckardt KU, Tsukamoto Y, et al. Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: A position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). *Kidney International*. 2005;67(6):2089-2100. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00365.x
- Bikbov B, Purcell CA, Levey AS, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet*. 2020;395(10225):709-733. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30045-3
- 17. Cockwell P, Fisher LA. The global burden of chronic kidney disease. *The Lancet*. 2020;395(10225):662-664. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32977-0
- Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*. 2020;396(10258):1204-1222. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Bello A, Levin A, Lunney M, et al. Global Kidney Health Atlas: A report by the International Society of Nephrology on the Global Burden of End-stage Kidney Disease and Capacity for Kidney Replacement Therapy and Conservative Care across World Countries and Regions. Published online 2019. Accessed September 13, 2021. https://www.theisn.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/GKHAtlas 2019 WebFIle-1.pdf
- 20. Organ replacement in Canada: CORR annual statistics, 2020 | CIHI. Accessed September 23, 2021. https://www.cihi.ca/en/organ-replacement-in-canada-corrannual-statistics-2020
- Liyanage T, Ninomiya T, Jha V, et al. Worldwide access to treatment for end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review. *The Lancet*. 2015;385(9981):1975-1982. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61601-9

- 22. Tennankore KK, Kim SJ, Baer HJ, Chan CT. Survival and Hospitalization for Intensive Home Hemodialysis Compared with Kidney Transplantation. *JASN*. 2014;25(9):2113-2120. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013111180
- Maruyama Y, Higuchi C, Io H, et al. Comparison of peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis as first renal replacement therapy in patients with end-stage renal disease and diabetes: a systematic review. *Renal Replacement Therapy*. 2019;5(1):44. doi:10.1186/s41100-019-0234-7
- Molnar AO, Moist L, Klarenbach S, et al. Hospitalizations in Dialysis Patients in Canada: A National Cohort Study. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2018;5:2054358118780372. doi:10.1177/2054358118780372
- 25. Kazancioğlu R. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease: an update. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2011). 2013;3(4):368-371. doi:10.1038/kisup.2013.79
- 26. Alicic RZ, Rooney MT, Tuttle KR. Diabetic Kidney Disease: Challenges, Progress, and Possibilities. *CJASN*. 2017;12(12):2032-2045. doi:10.2215/CJN.11491116
- 27. Chronic Kidney Disease in the United States, 2021. Published July 8, 2021. Accessed December 16, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/kidneydisease/publications-resources/ckd-national-facts.html
- 28. Annual Statistics on Organ Replacement in Canada: Dialysis, Transplantation and Donation, 2009 to 2018. Published online 2018.
- Benjamin O, Lappin SL. End-Stage Renal Disease. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2021. Accessed November 12, 2021. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK499861/
- Rabi DM, McBrien KA, Sapir-Pichhadze R, et al. Hypertension Canada's 2020 Comprehensive Guidelines for the Prevention, Diagnosis, Risk Assessment, and Treatment of Hypertension in Adults and Children. *Can J Cardiol.* 2020;36(5):596-624. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2020.02.086
- Muntner P, Anderson A, Charleston J, et al. Hypertension Awareness, Treatment, and Control in Adults With CKD: Results From the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) Study. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2010;55(3):441-451. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.09.014
- 32. Martínez-Maldonado M. Hypertension in end-stage renal disease. *Kidney* International. 1998;54:S67-S72. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.06816.x
- Ku E, Lee BJ, Wei J, Weir MR. Hypertension in CKD: Core Curriculum 2019. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2019;74(1):120-131. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.12.044

- 34. Iseki K. Factors influencing the development of end-stage renal disease. *Clin Exp Nephrol*. 2005;9(1):5-14. doi:10.1007/s10157-005-0341-3
- 35. Yarnoff BO, Hoerger TJ, Shrestha SS, et al. Modeling the impact of obesity on the lifetime risk of chronic kidney disease in the United States using updated estimates of GFR progression from the CRIC study. *PLOS ONE*. 2018;13(10):e0205530. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0205530
- Kovesdy CP, Furth SL, Zoccali C. Obesity and Kidney Disease: Hidden Consequences of the Epidemic. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2017;4:2054358117698669. doi:10.1177/2054358117698669
- Carrero JJ, Hecking M, Chesnaye NC, Jager KJ. Sex and gender disparities in the epidemiology and outcomes of chronic kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2018;14(3):151-164. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2017.181
- Hecking M, Bieber BA, Ethier J, et al. Sex-Specific Differences in Hemodialysis Prevalence and Practices and the Male-to-Female Mortality Rate: The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). *PLoS Med.* 2014;11(10):e1001750. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001750
- Antlanger M, Noordzij M, van de Luijtgaarden M, et al. Sex Differences in Kidney Replacement Therapy Initiation and Maintenance. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2019;14(11):1616-1625. doi:10.2215/CJN.04400419
- Gansevoort RT, Correa-Rotter R, Hemmelgarn BR, et al. Chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular risk: epidemiology, mechanisms, and prevention. *The Lancet*. 2013;382(9889):339-352. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60595-4
- 41. Michele Provenzano GC, Michele Provenzano GC. Epidemiology of cardiovascular risk in chronic kidney disease patients: the real silent killer. *Reviews in Cardiovascular Medicine*. 2019;20(4):209-220. doi:10.31083/j.rcm.2019.04.548
- 42. Olvera Lopez E, Ballard BD, Jan A. Cardiovascular Disease. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2021. Accessed November 26, 2021. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535419/
- 43. Lafrance JP, Rahme E, Lelorier J, Iqbal S. Vascular Access–Related Infections: Definitions, Incidence Rates, and Risk Factors. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2008;52(5):982-993. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.06.014
- 44. Saini T, Murtagh FE, Dupont PJ, McKinnon PM, Hatfield P, Saunders Y. Comparative pilot study of symptoms and quality of life in cancer patients and patients with end stage renal disease. *Palliat Med*. 2006;20(6):631-636. doi:10.1177/0269216306070236
- 45. Reddi AS, Kuppasani K. Kidney Function in Health and Disease. In: *Nutrition in Kidney Disease*. 1st ed. Nutrition and Health. Springer Link; 2008:13.

- 46. Kidney Health. Kidney Foundation. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://kidney.ca/Kidney-Health
- 47. Meyer TW, Hostetter TH. Uremia. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2007;357(13):1316-1325. doi:10.1056/NEJMra071313
- 48. Nesrallah GE, Mustafa RA, Clark WF, et al. Canadian Society of Nephrology 2014 clinical practice guideline for timing the initiation of chronic dialysis. *CMAJ*. 2014;186(2):112-117. doi:10.1503/cmaj.130363
- 49. eGFR Calculator. National Kidney Foundation. Accessed September 23, 2021. https://www.kidney.org/professionals/kdoqi/gfr\_calculator
- 50. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, et al. A New Equation to Estimate Glomerular Filtration Rate. *Ann Intern Med.* 2009;150(9):604-612.
- 51. Canadian Organ Replacement Register Instruction Manual, 2021 Chronic Renal Failure Patients on Renal Replacement Therapy. :71.
- Living with Kidney Failure. 5th ed. The Kidney Foundation of Canada; 2015. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://kidney.ca/KFOC/media/images/PDFs/3-1-3-Book-Two\_Living-with-kidney-failure.pdf
- Jindal K, Chan CT, Deziel C, et al. Hemodialysis clinical practice guidelines for the Canadian Society of Nephrology. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2006;17(3 Suppl 1):S1-27. doi:10.1681/ASN.2005121372
- 54. Treatment of End-Stage Organ Failure in Canada, Canadian Organ Replacement Register, 2011 to 2020: End-Stage Kidney Disease and Kidney Transplants — Data Tables. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Published 2021. Accessed December 20, 2021. https://www.cihi.ca/en/organ-replacement-in-canada-corrannual-statistics-2020
- 55. Tennankore KK, Nadeau-Fredette AC, Vinson AJ. Survival comparisons in home hemodialysis: Understanding the present and looking to the future. *Néphrologie & Thérapeutique*. 2021;17:S64-S70. doi:10.1016/j.nephro.2020.02.008
- 56. Nesrallah GE, Mustafa RA, MacRae J, et al. Canadian Society of Nephrology Guidelines for the Management of Patients With ESRD Treated With Intensive Hemodialysis. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2013;62(1):187-198. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.02.351
- Mendelssohn DC, Mujais SK, Soroka SD, et al. A prospective evaluation of renal replacement therapy modality eligibility. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2008;24(2):555-561. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfn484
- 58. Chaudhary K, Sangha H, Khanna R. Peritoneal Dialysis First: Rationale. *CJASN*. 2011;6(2):447-456. doi:10.2215/CJN.07920910

- Nesrallah GE, Li L, Suri RS. Comparative Effectiveness of Home Dialysis Therapies: A Matched Cohort Study. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2016;3:105. doi:10.1186/s40697-016-0105-x
- 60. Trinh E, Chan CT. The Rise, Fall, and Resurgence of Home Hemodialysis. *Seminars in Dialysis*. 2017;30(2):174-180. doi:10.1111/sdi.12572
- Weinhandl ED, Gilbertson DT, Collins AJ. Mortality, Hospitalization, and Technique Failure in Daily Home Hemodialysis and Matched Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A Matched Cohort Study. *Am J Kidney Dis*. 2016;67(1):98-110. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.07.014
- 62. Hajj JJ, Laudanski K. Home Hemodialysis (HHD) Treatment as an Effective yet Underutilized Treatment Modality in the United States. *Healthcare*. 2017;5(4):90. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.3390/healthcare5040090
- 63. Mcfarlane PA, Pierratos A, Redelmeier DA. Cost savings of home nocturnal versus conventional in-center hemodialysis. *Kidney International*. 2002;62(6):2216-2222. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00678.x
- 64. Blake PG. Global Dialysis Perspective: Canada. *Kidney360*. 2020;1(2):115-118. doi:10.34067/KID.0000462019
- Ishani A. Comparative Effectiveness of Home-based Kidney Dialysis versus Incenter or Other Outpatient Kidney Dialysis Locations - A Systematic Review. :169.
- Shen JI, Chen L, Vangala S, et al. Socioeconomic Factors and Racial and Ethnic Differences in the Initiation of Home Dialysis. *Kidney Medicine*. 2020;2(2):105-115. doi:10.1016/j.xkme.2019.11.006
- Mehrotra R, Soohoo M, Rivara MB, et al. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Use of and Outcomes with Home Dialysis in the United States. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2016;27(7):2123-2134. doi:10.1681/ASN.2015050472
- 68. Yan G, Norris KC, Greene T, et al. Race/ethnicity, age, and risk of hospital admission and length of stay during the first year of maintenance hemodialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2014;9(8):1402-1409. doi:10.2215/CJN.12621213
- 69. Morita PP, Huynh K, Zakir A, et al. Supporting the Establishment of New Home Dialysis Programs Through the Explore Home Dialysis Program. *Kidney Int Rep.* 2018;4(2):293-300. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2018.10.019
- Nadeau-Fredette AC, Hawley CM, Pascoe EM, et al. An Incident Cohort Study Comparing Survival on Home Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis (Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplantation Registry). *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2015;10(8):1397-1407. doi:10.2215/CJN.00840115

- Rydell H, Ivarsson K, Almquist M, Clyne N, Segelmark M. Fewer hospitalizations and prolonged technique survival with home hemodialysis- a matched cohort study from the Swedish Renal Registry. *BMC Nephrology*. 2019;20(1):480. doi:10.1186/s12882-019-1644-z
- Rioux JP, Bargman JM, Chan CT. Systematic differences among patients initiated on home haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis: the fallacy of potential competition. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2010;25(7):2364-2367. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq192
- 73. Nesrallah G. Understanding Determinants of Home Dialysis Use in Canada: A Mixed-Methods Study. thesis. 2013. Accessed November 3, 2021. https://macsphere.mcmaster.ca/handle/11375/13410
- Perl J, Na Y, Tennankore KK, Chan CT. Temporal Trends and Factors Associated with Home Hemodialysis Technique Survival in Canada. *CJASN*. 2017;12(8):1248-1258. doi:10.2215/CJN.13271216
- 75. Suri RS, Li L, Nesrallah GE. The risk of hospitalization and modality failure with home dialysis. *Kidney International*. 2015;88(2):360-368. doi:10.1038/ki.2015.68
- Morton RL, Snelling P, Webster AC, et al. Factors influencing patient choice of dialysis versus conservative care to treat end-stage kidney disease. *CMAJ*. 2012;184(5):E277-E283. doi:10.1503/cmaj.111355
- 77. Plantinga LC, Jaar BG. Preventing repeat hospitalizations in dialysis patients: a call for action. *Kidney International*. 2009;76(3):249-251. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.145
- Laurin LP, Harrak H, Elftouh N, Ouimet D, Vallée M, Lafrance JP. Outcomes of Infection-Related Hospitalization according to Dialysis Modality. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2015;10(5):817-824. doi:10.2215/CJN.09210914
- 79. Hospital stays in Canada. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Accessed January 14, 2022. https://www.cihi.ca/en/hospital-stays-in-canada
- National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. 2020 USRDS Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Published online 2020. Accessed December 9, 2021. https://adr.usrds.org/
- Quinn RR, Ravani P, Zhang X, et al. Impact of Modality Choice on Rates of Hospitalization in Patients Eligible for Both Peritoneal Dialysis and Hemodialysis. *Perit Dial Int*. 2014;34(1):41-48. doi:10.3747/pdi.2012.00257
- 82. Oliver MJ, Al-Jaishi AA, Dixon SN, et al. Hospitalization Rates for Patients on Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Compared with In-Center Hemodialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*. Published online 2016:13.

- Weinhandl ED, Nieman KM, Gilbertson DT, Collins AJ. Hospitalization in Daily Home Hemodialysis and Matched Thrice-Weekly In-Center Hemodialysis Patients. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2015;65(1):98-108. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.06.015
- Murphy SW, Foley RN, Barrett BJ, et al. Comparative hospitalization of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in Canada. *Kidney International*. 2000;57(6):2557-2563. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00115.x
- Kumar VA, Ledezma ML, Idroos ML, Burchette RJ, Rasgon SA. Hospitalization Rates in Daily Home Hemodialysis Versus Peritoneal Dialysis Patients in the United States. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2008;52(4):737-744. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.06.013
- 86. Korevaar JC, Feith GW, Dekker FW, et al. Effect of starting with hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis in patients new on dialysis treatment: A randomized controlled trial. *Kidney International*. 2003;64(6):2222-2228. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00321.x
- Rocco MV, Lockridge RS, Beck GJ, et al. The effects of frequent nocturnal home hemodialysis: the Frequent Hemodialysis Network Nocturnal Trial. *Kidney Int.* 2011;80(10):1080-1091. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.213
- In-Center Hemodialysis Six Times per Week versus Three Times per Week. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;363(24):2287-2300. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001593
- 89. Thodis ED, Oreopoulos DG. Home dialysis first: a new paradigm for new ESRD patients. *JN*. 2011;24(4):398-404. doi:10.5301/JN.2011.8374
- 90. Tennankore KK, Chan CT, Curran SP. Intensive home haemodialysis: benefits and barriers. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2012;8(9):515-522. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2012.145
- Tennankore KK, Nadeau-Fredette AC, Matheson K, Chan CT, Trinh E, Perl J. Home Versus In-center Dialysis and Day of the Week Hospitalization: A Cohort Study. *Kidney360*. 2022;3(1):103-112. doi:10.34067/KID.0003552021
- 92. Saravanan P, Davidson NC. Risk Assessment for Sudden Cardiac Death in Dialysis Patients. *Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology*. 2010;3(5):553-559. doi:10.1161/CIRCEP.110.937888
- Bornstein AB, Rao SS, Marwaha K. Left Ventricular Hypertrophy. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2021. Accessed December 10, 2021. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557534/

- 94. McCullough PA, Chan CT, Weinhandl ED, Burkart JM, Bakris GL. Intensive Hemodialysis, Left Ventricular Hypertrophy, and Cardiovascular Disease. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2016;68(5):S5-S14. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.05.025
- 95. Culleton BF, Walsh M, Klarenbach SW, et al. Effect of Frequent Nocturnal Hemodialysis vs Conventional Hemodialysis on Left Ventricular Mass and Quality of LifeA Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA*. 2007;298(11):1291-1299. doi:10.1001/jama.298.11.1291
- 96. Suri RS, Nesrallah GE, Mainra R, et al. Daily Hemodialysis: A Systematic Review. *CJASN*. 2006;1(1):33-42. doi:10.2215/CJN.00340705
- 97. Van Biesen W, Williams JD, Covic AC, et al. Fluid Status in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: The European Body Composition Monitoring (EuroBCM) Study Cohort. Zoccali C, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2011;6(2):e17148. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017148
- Konings CJAM, Kooman JP, Schonck M, et al. Fluid Status, Blood Pressure, and Cardiovascular Abnormalities in Patients on Peritoneal Dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* 2002;22(4):477-487. doi:10.1177/089686080202200406
- Blake PG, Bargman JM, Brimble KS, et al. Clinical Practice Guidelines and Recommendations on Peritoneal Dialysis Adequacy 2011. *Perit Dial Int*. 2011;31(2):218-239. doi:10.3747/pdi.2011.00026
- 100. Woodrow G, Fan SL, Reid C, Denning J, Pyrah AN. Renal Association Clinical Practice Guideline on peritoneal dialysis in adults and children. *BMC Nephrol.* 2017;18(1):333. doi:10.1186/s12882-017-0687-2
- 101. Lamarche C, Iliuta IA, Kitzler T. Infectious Disease Risk in Dialysis Patients: A Transdisciplinary Approach. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2019;6:2054358119839080. doi:10.1177/2054358119839080
- 102. Lafrance JP, Rahme E, Iqbal S, et al. Association of Dialysis Modality with Risk for Infection-Related Hospitalization: A Propensity Score–Matched Cohort Analysis. *CJASN*. 2012;7(10):1598-1605. doi:10.2215/CJN.00440112
- 103. Palmer SC, Palmer AR, Craig JC, et al. Home versus in-centre haemodialysis for end-stage kidney disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2014;(11). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009535.pub2
- 104. Girndt M, Sester U, Sester M, Kaul H, Köhler H. Impaired cellular immune function in patients with end-stage renal failure. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 1999;14(12):2807-2810. doi:10.1093/ndt/14.12.2807
- 105. Tennankore KK, d'Gama C, Faratro R, Fung S, Wong E, Chan CT. Adverse Technical Events in Home Hemodialysis. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2015;65(1):116-121. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.08.013

- 106. Schoonover KL, Hickson LJ, Norby SM, et al. Risk factors for hospitalization among older, incident haemodialysis patients. *Nephrology*. 2013;18(11):712-717. doi:10.1111/nep.12129
- 107. Adams SV, Rivara M, Streja E, et al. Sex Differences in Hospitalizations with Maintenance Hemodialysis. JASN. 2017;28(9):2721-2728. doi:10.1681/ASN.2016090986
- 108. Piccoli GB, Alrukhaimi M, Liu ZH, Zakharova E, Levin A. What We Do and Do Not Know About Women and Kidney Diseases; Questions Unanswered and Answers Unquestioned: Reflection on World Kidney Day and International Woman's Day. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* 2018;5:2054358118761656. doi:10.1177/2054358118761656
- 109. Trinh E, Na Y, Sood MM, Chan CT, Perl J. Racial Differences in Home Dialysis Utilization and Outcomes in Canada. *CJASN*. 2017;12(11):1841-1851. doi:10.2215/CJN.03820417
- 110. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kovesdy CP, Norris KC. Racial Survival Paradox of Dialysis Patients: Robust and Resilient. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2012;60(2):182-185. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.02.321
- 111. Noori N, Kovesdy CP, Dukkipati R, et al. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Mortality of Hemodialysis Patients: Role of Dietary and Nutritional Status and Inflammation. *American Journal of Nephrology*. 2011;33(2):157-167. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1159/000323972
- 112. Lertdumrongluk P, Kovesdy CP, Norris KC, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Nutritional and Inflammatory Axis of Racial Survival Disparities. *Seminars in Dialysis*. 2013;26(1):36-39. doi:10.1111/sdi.12025
- 113. Clark D, Matheson K, West B, et al. Frailty Severity and Hospitalization After Dialysis Initiation. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2021;8:20543581211023330. doi:10.1177/20543581211023330
- 114. Beddhu S, Bruns FJ, Saul M, Seddon P, Zeidel ML. A simple comorbidity scale predicts clinical outcomes and costs in dialysis patients. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 2000;108(8):609-613. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(00)00371-5
- 115. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Trends in Income-Related Health Inequalities in Canada: Summary Report. CIHI; 2015:17.
- 116. Vart P, Powe NR, McCulloch CE, et al. National Trends in the Prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease Among Racial/Ethnic and Socioeconomic Status Groups, 1988-2016. JAMA Network Open. 2020;3(7):e207932. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.7932

- 117. Disano J, Goulet J, Muhajarine N, Neudorf C, Harvey J. Socio-economic status and rates of hospital admission for chronic disease in urban Canada. *CAN NURSE*. 2010;106(1):24-29.
- 118. Canadian Population Health Initiative. Reducing Gaps in Health: A Focus on Socio-Economic Status in Urban Canada. Canadian Population Health Initiative; 2008. Accessed December 8, 2021. https://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.item?id=H118-54-2008E&op=pdf&app=Library
- 119. Saunders MR, Ricardo AC, Chen J, et al. Neighborhood socioeconomic status and risk of hospitalization in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). 2020;99(28):e21028. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000021028
- 120. Tao S, Zeng X, Liu J, Fu P. Socioeconomic status and mortality among dialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Urol Nephrol.* 2019;51(3):509-518. doi:10.1007/s11255-019-02078-5
- 121. Mendelssohn DC, Curtis B, Yeates K, et al. Suboptimal initiation of dialysis with and without early referral to a nephrologist. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2011;26(9):2959-2965. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq843
- 122. Nadeau-fredette A claire, Tennankore KK, Kim SJ, Chan CT. Suboptimal Initiation of Home Hemodialysis: Determinants and Clinical Outcomes. *Nephron*. 2013;124(1-2):132-140. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1159/000356383
- 123. Data Quality Documentation for Users: Canadian Organ Replacement Register, 2009 to 2018 Data. :23.
- 124. Moist LM, Richards HA, Miskulin D, et al. A Validation Study of the Canadian Organ Replacement Register. CJASN. 2011;6(4):813-818. doi:10.2215/CJN.06680810
- 125. Discharge Abstract Database metadata (DAD) | CIHI. Accessed October 5, 2021. https://www.cihi.ca/en/discharge-abstract-database-metadata-dad
- 126. Weaver CG, Ravani P, Oliver MJ, Austin PC, Quinn RR. Analyzing hospitalization data: potential limitations of Poisson regression. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2015;30(8):1244-1249. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv071
- 127. Yadav CP, V S, Ma K, Rm P. An Overview of Statistical Models for Recurrent Events Analysis: A Review. *Epidemiology*. 2018;08(04). doi:10.4172/2327-4972.1000354
- 128. Glynn RJ, Buring JE. Ways of measuring rates of recurrent events. *BMJ*. 1996;312(7027):364-367.

- 129. Jahn-Eimermacher A. Comparison of the Andersen–Gill model with poisson and negative binomial regression on recurrent event data. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*. 2008;52(11):4989-4997. doi:10.1016/j.csda.2008.04.009
- 130. Williams R. Models for Count Outcomes. Published online March 14, 2021.
- 131. Noordzij M, Leffondré K, van Stralen KJ, Zoccali C, Dekker FW, Jager KJ. When do we need competing risks methods for survival analysis in nephrology? *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2013;28(11):2670-2677. doi:10.1093/ndt/gft355
- 132. Austin PC, Lee DS, Fine JP. Introduction to the Analysis of Survival Data in the Presence of Competing Risks. *Circulation*. 2016;133(6):601-609. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017719
- 133. Austin PC, Fine JP. Practical recommendations for reporting Fine-Gray model analyses for competing risk data. *Stat Med.* 2017;36(27):4391-4400. doi:10.1002/sim.7501
- 134. Teixeira L, Rodrigues A, Carvalho MJ, Cabrita A, Mendonça D. Modelling competing risks in nephrology research: an example in peritoneal dialysis. *BMC Nephrol.* 2013;14(1):1-8. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-14-110
- 135. Dohoo I, Martin W, Stryhn H. Methods in Epidemiologic Research. VER Inc; 2012.
- 136. Mansournia MA, Nazemipour M, Naimi AI, Collins GS, Campbell MJ. Reflection on modern methods: demystifying robust standard errors for epidemiologists. *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2021;50(1):346-351. doi:10.1093/ije/dyaa260
- 137. Penning de Vries BBL, Groenwold RHH. Cautionary note: propensity score matching does not account for bias due to censoring. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2018;33(6):914-916. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfx198
- 138. Stürmer T, Joshi M, Glynn RJ, Avorn J, Rothman KJ, Schneeweiss S. A review of the application of propensity score methods yielded increasing use, advantages in specific settings, but not substantially different estimates compared with conventional multivariable methods. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 2006;59(5):437.e1-437.e24. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.07.004
- 139. Winkelmayer WC, Kurth T. Propensity scores: help or hype? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2004;19(7):1671-1673. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfh104
- Barnieh L, James M, Zhang J, Hemmelgarn B. Propensity score methods and their application in nephrology research. *Journal of nephrology*. 2011;24:256-262. doi:10.5301/JN.2011.6429

- 141. Pedersen AB, Mikkelsen EM, Cronin-Fenton D, et al. Missing data and multiple imputation in clinical epidemiological research. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2017;9:157-166. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S129785
- 142. Canada H. Canadian Guidelines for Body Weight Classification in Adults. Published March 21, 2003. Accessed October 12, 2021. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/food-nutrition/healthy-eating/healthy-weights/canadianguidelines-body-weight-classification-adults/questions-answers-public.html
- 143. Sarnak MJM, Auguste BL, Brown E, et al. Cardiovascular Effects of Home Dialysis Therapies: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000001088
- 144. Hecking M, Tu C, Zee J, et al. Sex-Specific Differences in Mortality and Incident Dialysis in the Chronic Kidney Disease Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study. *Kidney International Reports*. 2022;7(3):410-423. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2021.11.018
- 145. Sharma N, Chakrabarti S, Grover S. Gender differences in caregiving among family caregivers of people with mental illnesses. *World J Psychiatry*. 2016;6(1):7-17. doi:10.5498/wjp.v6.i1.7
- 146. Shakya D, Tuladhar J, Poudel S. Burden and Depression Among Caregivers of Hemodialysis Patients. *Palliative Medicine and Care*. 2017;4:1-6. doi:10.15226/2374-8362/4/1/00131
- 147. Kim AM, Tingen CM, Woodruff TK. Sex bias in trials and treatment must end. *Nature*. 2010;465(7299):688-689. doi:10.1038/465688a
- 148. Thompson K, Peters S, Woodward M, Carcel C, Norton R. Reporting sex and gender in medical research. *The Lancet*. 2019;393(10185):2038. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31041-4
- 149. Agunbiade A, Dasgupta A, Ward MM. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Dialysis Discontinuation and Survival after Hospitalization for Serious Conditions among Patients on Maintenance Dialysis. JASN. 2020;31(1):149-160. doi:10.1681/ASN.2019020122
- 150. Guidance on the Use of Standards for Race-Based and Indigenous Identity Data Collection and Health Reporting in Canada. :33.
- 151. Eneanya ND, Boulware LE, Tsai J, et al. Health inequities and the inappropriate use of race in nephrology. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2022;18(2):84-94. doi:10.1038/s41581-021-00501-8
- 152. Karkar A, Wilkie M. Peritoneal dialysis in the modern era. *Perit Dial Int*. Published online August 3, 2022:8968608221114211. doi:10.1177/08968608221114211

- 153. Blake PG, McCormick BB, Taji L, et al. Growing home dialysis: The Ontario Renal Network Home Dialysis Initiative 2012–2019. *Perit Dial Int*. 2021;41(5):441-452. doi:10.1177/08968608211012805
- 154. Reintjes F, Herian N, Shah N, Pauly RP. Prospective monitoring of after-hours nursing and technologist support calls to a regional Canadian home hemodialysis program. *Hemodialysis International*. 2019;23(1):19-25. doi:10.1111/hdi.12677
- 155. Rioux JP, Marshall MR, Faratro R, Hakim R, Simmonds R, Chan CT. Patient selection and training for home hemodialysis. *Hemodialysis International*. 2015;19(S1):S71-S79. doi:10.1111/hdi.12254
- 156. Nadeau-Fredette AC, Chan CT, Bargman JM, et al. Predictors of Care Gaps in Home Dialysis: The Home Dialysis Virtual Ward Study. AJN. 2019;50(5):392-400. doi:10.1159/000503439
- 157. Chaudhuri S, Han H, Muchiutti C, et al. Remote Treatment Monitoring on Hospitalization and Technique Failure Rates in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Kidney360*. 2020;1(3):191-202. doi:10.34067/KID.0000302019
- 158. Raphael MJ, Nadeau-Fredette AC, Tennankore KK, Chan CT. A Virtual Ward for Home Hemodialysis Patients – A Pilot Trial. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*. 2015;2:72. doi:10.1186/s40697-015-0072-7
- 159. Whitlow M, Wallace E. Remote Patient Monitoring: An Important Tool in Advancing Home Dialysis. *Kidney Med.* 2019;1(6):327-328. doi:10.1016/j.xkme.2019.10.002
- 160. Wallace EL, Rosner MH, Alscher MD, et al. Remote Patient Management for Home Dialysis Patients. *Kidney International Reports*. 2017;2(6):1009-1017. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2017.07.010
- 161. McDonald SP, Marshall MR, Johnson DW, Polkinghorne KR. Relationship between Dialysis Modality and Mortality. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(1):155-163. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007111188
- 162. Heaf JG, Løkkegaard H, Madsen M. Initial survival advantage of peritoneal dialysis relative to haemodialysis. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2002;17(1):112-117. doi:10.1093/ndt/17.1.112
- 163. Perl J, Wald R, McFarlane P, et al. Hemodialysis Vascular Access Modifies the Association between Dialysis Modality and Survival. JASN. 2011;22(6):1113-1121. doi:10.1681/ASN.2010111155
- 164. Lacson E, Wang W, Hakim RM, Teng M, Lazarus JM. Associates of Mortality and Hospitalization in Hemodialysis: Potentially Actionable Laboratory Variables and Vascular Access. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2009;53(1):79-90. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.07.031

165. Fu EL, Evans M, Carrero JJ, et al. Timing of dialysis initiation to reduce mortality and cardiovascular events in advanced chronic kidney disease: nationwide cohort study. *BMJ*. 2021;375:e066306. doi:10.1136/bmj-2021-066306

# Appendix 1: Simplified DAG of Covariables and the Relationship with the Exposure and Outcome Variables





# Appendix 2: Flowchart of exclusion Criteria for the Primary Analyses



# Appendix 3: CORR Initial Registration Form for Chronic Renal Failure Patients on **Renal Replacement Therapy**

This form is for reference only. CORR accepts only electronic submissions.

Canadian Organ Replacement Register Chronic Renal Failure Patients on Renal Replacement Therapy

INITIAL REGISTRATION-2020

Hospital Name:

SECTION A—PERSONAL IDENTIFICATION	SECTION C-INITIAL AND INTENDED DIALYSIS TREATMENT				
	Access used at time of initial dialysis (check one):				
Patient Last Name:	Haemodialysis OTemporary catheter non-cuffed (1)				
Patient Former Name:	Temporary catheter cuffed (2)				
Define transformed Middle Manager	OPermanent catheter cuffed (4) OAV fistula (5) OAV graft (6)				
Patient First and Middle Names:	Peritoneal Dialysis OPD catheter (7)				
Patient Address (city and province only):	Date of first renal replacement therapy:				
Patient Postal Code:					
Health Card Number:	Initial dialysis treatment type (Specify location, type and level of assistance/care.)				
Province of Health Card:	LOCATION:				
Date of Birth:///// (DD/MON/YYYY)	OAcute care hospital OChronic care hospital OCommunity centre OHome				
Sex (check one): O Male O Female O Other	TYPE:				
Race (check one): OCaucasian/white (01) O Asian (02)	OConventional haemo OShort daily haemo OSlow nocturnal haemo				
O Black (03)         O Indian Sub-continent (05)         O Pacific Islander (08)	OCAPD OPeritoneal dialysis combined with haemo				
OAboriginal (09) O Mid-East/Arabian (10) O Latin American (11)	ASSISTANCE/CARE:				
OUnknown (98) Other/Multiracial (99)	O Total care O Limited self care O Total self care				
SECTION B-PRE-DIALYSIS AND INITIAL BLOOD WORK	Is this initial treatment the intended long-term dialysis treatment				
Date when patient first seen by nephrologist:	for this patient?				
	O Unknown				
	OYes				
Was patient followed by a nephrologist prior to initiating dialysis?	O No ⟨ If not, why not?				
(check one): 🔘 no pre-dialysis follow-up (0)	O no facilities/space available (1)				
yes followed in nephrologist's office (1)	upforeseen change in patient status leading to sudden (3)				
O yes followed in speciality clinic (2)	dialysis start				
• use followed in both office and clinic (2)	O other (specify) (4)				
yes followed in both office and clinic (3)	If not, what is the long-term intended treatment for this patient?				
O unknown (9)	LOCATION:				
Was the patient receiving erythropoietin (i.e. Eprex, Aranesp) prior to initial dialysis treatment?	O Acute care hospital O Chronic care hospital O Community centre O Home				
O Eprex O Aranesp O Other					
Last blood work before initial dialysis treatment: (Indicate NA if not available)	O Total care O Limited self care O Total self care				
Haemoglobin (g/L) Creatinine (µmol/L)					
Urea (mmol/L) Serum Bicarbonate/CO <sub>2</sub> (mmol/L)					
Serum Calcium (mmol/L) O uncorrected O corrected O ionized					
Serum Phosphate (mmol/L) Serum Albumin (g/L)					
Serum Parathormone (PTH) O pmol/L O ng/L O pg/ml					

Ο Canadian Institute for Health Information CIHI ICIS d'information sur la santé

Page 1 of 3 Formulaire disponible en français.

Form IRD2020

Patient Last Name:

# SECTION D-HEIGHT AND WEIGHT

Height/weight cannot be provided because patient is:

O A double-leg amputee

Record patient's height (cm) at the start of the first dialysis treatment this year:

\_\_\_\_•\_\_\_\_ cm

Record patient's actual weight (kg) within the first month of treatment:

\_\_\_\_ ŀ\_\_\_ kg

n) Current smoker

(i.e. has smoked cigarettes, cigars or a pipe in the last three months)

Conversion factors: 1 inch = 2.54 cm; 1 lb = 0.454 kg

# SECTION E-PRIMARY DIAGNOSIS AND RISK FACTOR HISTORY

Primary renal disease <i>(see codes on</i> Specify:	page 3): L				
Risk Factors/Co-morbid Conditions (check one response per condition):					
	I	No	Yes	Unknown	
a) Angina		0	0	0	
b) Myocardial infarct		0	0	0	
c) Coronary artery bypass grafts/an	gioplasty	0	0	0	
<ul> <li>Recent history of pulmonary eder (i.e. episode(s) of congestive hea or pulmonary edema within 6 mon to dialysis)</li> </ul>	na rt failure nths prior	0	0	0	
<ul> <li>e) Cerebrovascular disease (i.e. stroke, transient ischemic att carotid surgery)</li> </ul>	ack,	0	0	0	
f) Peripheral vascular disease (i.e. previous surgery such as femoropopliteal bypass graft, lilac femoral endarterectomy, angiopla ischemic muscle pain precipitated exercise; ischemic ulcers; gangre amputation)	c or hsty, etc.; I by ne;	0	0	0	
g) Diabetes Type 1		0	0	0	
h) Diabetes Type 2		0	0	0	
<ul> <li>Malignancy existing prior to first to</li> </ul>	reatment	0	0	0	
If yes, indicate site usin	g the codes list	ed on j	oage 3	or specify:	
<ul> <li>Chronic obstructive lung disease (i.e. emphysema or chronic brond</li> </ul>	hitis)	0	0	0	
k) Receiving medication for hyperter	nsion	0	0	0	
<ol> <li>Other serious illness that could sh expectancy to less than 5 years</li> </ol>	norten life	0	0	0	
If ves, specify condition:					

### Treatment Codes

Consists of treatment location, treatment type and level of assistance/care required.

# LOCATION

1 = Acute Care Hospital: Treatments carried out in a dialysis facility located in or on the grounds of a hospital that provides full renal care services (i.e. services provided under the care of nephrologist(s), which include social work and dietary consultation and inpatient back-up care).

2 = Chronic Care Hospital: Treatments carried out in a facility where ongoing medical intervention is provided and residents require assistance. Includes chronic care facilities and nursing homes.

3 = Community Centre: Dialysis done outside a hospital. Treatment may occur in an office building, shopping plaza or other place where nephrology inpatient services are not onsite. This includes mobile dialysis services, and dialysis provided at independent health facilities.

**4 = Home:** Treatments carried out in the patient's home by the patient and/or family member(s).

# TYPE

**1 = Conventional Haemodialysis:** Given 3–6 hours two to four times a week.

2 = Short Daily Haemodialysis: Given during the day or evening for 2–3 hours 5 to 7 days per week.

3 = Slow Nocturnal Haemodialysis: Given 5–6 nights per week.
4 = CAPD (Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis): Patient receives peritoneal dialysis treatments through an implanted peritoneal catheter continuously throughout the day and night.
The fluid held in the abdominal cavity is exchanged an average of 4 times per 24 hours, with a usual volume of 2 litres (includes enhanced CAPD).
5 = APD (Automated Peritoneal Dialysis): An automated cycler is used to effect the dialysale exchanges while the patient sleeps at night with or

to effect the dialysate exchanges while the patient sleeps at night with or without additional exchanges during the day. Excludes night manual exchanges and non-automated night exchanges.

6 = Peritoneal Dialysis Combined with Haemodialysis: Patient is receiving a combination of any type of peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis.

For Type of Treatment code 6 only, location and level of assistance are to be coded as 0 (i.e. 0-6-0).

# ASSISTANCE/CARE REQUIRED

1 = Total Care: Patient is under the full care of trained staff affiliated with a nephrology unit.

2 = Limited Self Care: Patient receives a minimal amount of assistance from trained staff affiliated with a nephrology unit. This does not include family member(s).

3 = Total Self Care: Patient is completely responsible for his/her own treatment, with no assistance from nephrology trained staff. A patient may be classified as total self care if he/she receives assistance from family member(s) or home care worker who is not a trained staff affiliated with a nephrology unit.

Examples:

An elderly, infirmed patient waiting for a chronic care bed but being treated at an acute care hospital with conventional haemodialyis would be coded: <u>[1]1]1</u>.

A patient on short daily haemodialysis who is being treated at the acute care hospital with only some care provided by trained staff would be coded: <u>112121</u>.

A patient on home CAPD receiving no assistance from trained staff would be coded: |4|4|3|.

Page 2 of 3 Formulaire disponible en français.

0 0

Ο

Form IRD2020

#### 11 Two or more primary malignancies SKIN (excludes lips and genitals) Squamous cell carcinoma 20 Basal cell carcinoma 21 Squamous and basal cell carcinoma 22 23 Malignant melanoma LEUKAEMIAS AND RETICULOSES Myeloma 25 Acute leukaemia 26 Chronic leukaemia 27 Reticulum cell sarcoma Kaposi sarcoma 29 30 31 Lymphosarcoma 33 Plasma cell lymphoma Hodgkin's disease 34 Lymphoreticular tumours 35 36 Histiocytic reticulosis GASTRO-INTESTINAL TRACT 40 Lip 41 Tonaue 42 Parotid 43 44 Oesophagus Stomach 45 Colon 46 Rectum 47 Anus 48 Liver-primary hepatoma Liver—primary lymphoma Gallbladder and bile duct ٨Q 50 Pancreas 51 NECK AND THROAT 53 Larynx 54 Thyroid 55 Bronchus Lung, primary tumour 56 UROGENITAL TRACT Kidney—Wilms' tumour Kidney—Hypernephroma of host kidney Kidney—Hypernephroma of graft kidney 60

Site of Primary Malignancy Codes

- 61
- 62
- Renal pelvis 63
- Ureter 64
- 65 Urinary bladder
- 66 Urethra
- 67 Prostate
- 68 Testis
- 69 Penis
- 70 Scrotum
- Perineum
- 72 Vulva
- 73 Vagina
- 74 75 Uterus—cervix Uterus—body
- Ovary 76

# MISCELLANEOUS

- 80 Breast 81 Muscle
- 82
- Bone 83
- Brain-primary lymphoma Brain-other primary tumour 84
- 85
- Other tumour of central nervous system
- 90 Metastatic carcinoma, primary site unknown
- 99 Other primary tumour, specify

# **Primary Renal Diagnosis Codes**

00 Chronic renal failure-aetiology uncertain

# GLOMERULONEPHRITIS/

- AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES
- 05 Mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis
- 06 Minimal lesion glomerulonephritis
- 07 Post-strep glomerulonephritis
- Rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis 08
- 09 Focal glomerulonephritis (adults)
- Glomerulonephritis, histologically 10 NOT examined
- Severe nephrotic syndrome with focal 11
- sclerosis (paediatric patients) 12 IgA nephropathy—proven by immunofluorescence (not code 85)
- Dense deposit disease—proven by immunofluorescence and/or electron microscopy (MPGN Type II)
- 14 Membranous nephropathy
- 15
- Membranous nephropathy Membranoproliferative mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis (MPGN Type I) Idiopathic crescentic glomerulonephritis (diffuse proliferative)
- 16
- Congenital nephrosis or congenital 17
- nephrotic syndrome
- 19 Glomerulonephritis, histologically
- examined
- 73 Polyarteritis
- 74 Wegener's granulomatosis
- 84 Lupus erythematosus
- 85 Henoch-Schonlein purpura
- 86 Goodpasture's syndrome 87 Scleroderma
- 88 Haemolytic uraemic syndrome

## NEPHROPATHY, DRUG-INDUCED Nephropathy caused by drugs or nephrotoxic

- 30 agents-cause not specified
- Nephropathy due to analgesic drugs 31
- 32 Nephropathy due to cisplatin
- 33 Nephropathy due to Cyclosporin A
- 39 Nephropathy caused by other specific
- drugs

# POLYCYSTIC KIDNEY

- 41 Polycystic kidneys, adult type (dominant) 42 Polycystic kidneys, infantile and juvenile types (recessive)
- DIABETES
- 80 Diabetic nephropathy associated with Type 1
- 81 Diabetic nephropathy associated with Type 2

## CONGENITAL/HEREDITARY RENAL DISEASES

- Pvelonephritis/Interstitial nephritis associated 21 with neurogenic bladder Pyelonephritis/Interstitial nephritis due to
- 22 congenital obstructive uropathy with or without vesico-ureteric reflux
- 24
- Pyelonephritis/Interstitial nephritis due to vesico-ureteric reflux without obstruction
- 40 Cystic kidney disease, type unspecified

Page 3 of 3 Formulaire disponible en français.

84

- 41 Polycystic kidneys, adult type (dominant)
- 42 Polycystic kidneys, infantile and juvenile
- types (recessive)
- Medullary cystic disease, including nephronophthisis 43
- Cystic kidney disease, other type 49
- 50 Hereditary/familial nephropathy, type unspecified 51
- Hereditary nephritis with nerve deafness (Alport's Syndrome)
- 52 Cystinosis
- 53 Oxalosis
- 54 Fabry's disease
- 55 DRASH syndrome
- Posterior urethral valves
- 59 Hereditary nephropathy
- 60 Congenital renal hypoplasia
- 61 Oligomegonephronic hypoplasia
- 62 Segmental renal hypoplasia (Ask-Upmark kidney)
- 63 Congenital renal dysplasia with or without urinary tract malformation
- 66 Syndrome of agenesis of abdominal muscles (Prune belly syndrome)

### RENAL VASCULAR DISEASE

- 70 Renal vascular disease, type unspecified Malignant hypertension (no primary renal disease)
- 72 Renal vascular disease due to hypertension
- (no primary renal disease)
- 73 Polvarteritis nodosa

29 Pyelonephritis, other cause 56 Sickle cell nephropathy

Multi-system disease

Balkan nephropathy

Kidney tumour

Cortical or acute tubular necrosis

Traumatic or surgical loss of kidney

97 HIV nephropathy
99 Other identified renal disorder—specify

57 Wilms' tumou

83 Amyloid

82 Multiple myeloma

Tuberculosis

- Atheroembolic renal disease 78
- Renal vascular disease, classified (nephrosclerosis, renal vascular thrombosis) 79

Pyelonephritis/Interstitial nephritis, due to urolithiasis

Nephrocalcinosis and hypercalcaemic nephropathy

Form IRD2020

# OTHER

25

89

91

92 Gout

93

94

95

96

Pyelonephritis/Interstitial nephritis, cause not specified 23 Pyelonephritis/Interstitial nephritis, due to acquired obstructive uropathy